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shareholder information...
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operational highlights...

B> On March 19, 2002, Ohio Casualty Corporation Ohio Casualty Corporation is the holding company of The
announced it had completed an offering of
$201,250,000 aggregate principal amount of 5.00%
convertible notes due March 19, 2022, with the net proceeds to be used
for repayment of bank debt. Ohio Casualty Group (0C6). The Ohio Casualty Insurance

Ohio Casualty Insurance Company, which is one of six

property/casualty subsidiary companies that make up

f in 1919 and is licensed in 49
P In April 2002, three highly qualified members were added to the Compary s founded in 1919 nd s censed in

Corporation Board of Directors: Philip G. Heasley, Ralph S. Michael 11l and states. Ohio Casualty Group is ranked 40th among UsS.
Jan H. Suwinski. property/casualty insurance groups based on net premi-

ums written (Bests Review, July 2002). The Group’

P Personal Lines operations introduced insurance scoring as a method
for better pricing and underwriting its business. member companies write auto, home and business insur-

. Ohio Casualty € fion trades on the NASDA
P Despite its exit from the New Jersey private passenger auto market, ence. ThIo Ay Horporetion races on The 0

Ohio Casualty Group has seen an increase in commercial business for Stock Market under the symbol OCAS and had assefs of
that market and New Jersey remains the largest Commercial Lines state. approximately $4.8 billion as of December 31, 2002.
P Consolidated assets increased 5.6 percent to $4.78 billion at

December 31, 2002.
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financial highlights...

(In thousands, except per share and number

of shareholders data)

2002

2001

2000

Premiums and finance charges earned S 1,450,467 $ 1,506,678 $ 1,533,998
Investment income, less expenses 207,133 212,385 205,062
Loss before realized investment gains
(losses), after taxes (30,266) {36,431) {77.695)
Realized investment gains (losses), after taxes 29,375 135,01 {1,554)
Net income (loss) (891) 98,580 {79,249)
Property and casualty statutory combined ratio 112.8% 115.3% 119.2%
Basic and Diluted Earnings per Common Share
Net income (loss) -] (0.01) s 1.64 S (1.32)
Book value 17.43 797 18.59
Dividends - - 0.59
Assets S 4,7789% § 4,524,619 § 4,489,365
Shareholders’ equity 1,058,703 1,080,082 1,116,591
Average shares outstanding - basic 60,494 60,076 60,075
- Average shares outstanding - diluted 61,284 60,209 60,075
Shares outstanding on December 31 60,725 60,106 60,072
Number of shareholders 5,200 5,700 6,100




a letter o shareholders...

» Dear Fellow Shareholders;

S Ohio Casualty Corporation continues on a path to
ach1evmg improved financial performance. The year 2002 was disappointing in
terms of financial results. We can assure you that your company remains com-
mitted to the fundamental concepts outlined in the Corporate Strategic Plan we
introduced in 2001: a focus on profitability; rigorous execution of underwriting,
pricing, and claims handling; expense reduction; strengthening local market
knowledge and relationships with the independent agents who sell our products;
delivery of excellent service to agents and policyholders; investment in technolo-
gy; and development of a high performing workforce. We have set our sights on
achievement of these objectives and we remain committed to our core short- and
long-term objective to provide better value to our shareholders.

One of the most important accomplishments of the year was the
repayment of our previous bank debt. This was refinanced in March of 2002
through a private offering and sale of notes that are convertible at the option
of the holders into shares of Corporation common stock. Refinancing of this
debt strengthened our financial position and provides more flexibility for the
future. In July 2002, we established a meaningful line of credit facility that
will be available for any shorter term needs.

We continue to have a strong relationship with our reinsurers. As a
result of our underwriting philosophy; geographic concentration; and aggressive
re-underwriting actions, we were able to negotiate favorable reinsurance treaties
that provide us with excellent support from some of the strongest insurers in the
world for our key lines of business, and allow us to maintain competitive limits
for coverages such as Commercial Umbrella and Excess.

Targeting our Operations

The continued success of Specialty Lines is a major highlight of your company’s
insurance operations. The Commercial Umbrella/Excess and Bond operations
report excellent results. Umbrella/Excess continues to lead the way with prof-
itable growth, achieved by our partner agents and an experienced, motivated
staff, fully assembled in 2002. An important part of that support is the claims
handling provided by dedicated, highly specialized Claims unit personnel for
each area.

The Commercial Lines and Personal Lines operations are responding to
their many challenges through old fashioned underwriting discipline and
proactive, enlightened management of their businesses. For Commercial Lines,
workers’ compensation remains challenging, while the Federal Terrorism Act
enacted in November 2002 required an immediate deployment of resources in
order to comply with Act requirements by February of 2003. In the third quar-
ter of 2002, our results were negatively impacted in part by an emerging trend
related to construction defect claims. Our Commercial Lines management,
underwriting, actuarial and claims personnel examined the increased severity
for claims related to certain types of developers and contractors. As a result,
we increased reserves for these claims. While the decision to strengthen
reserves at that time contributed to the disappointing third quarter results, we
felt it was the appropriate action.

Continued on page 4...



Members of the Board of Directors
include, seated, from left: President and
(£0 Dan Carmichael and Chairman of the
Board Stan Pontius; and standing from
eft, the directors: Steve Marcum,

Terry Baehr, Phil Heasley, Cathy Dolan,

Jack Brown, Jan Suwinski,

Howard Sloneker 11, and Mike Michael.

The plan we announced in December 2001 to withdraw from private passenger auto business in New
Jersey is nearly complete, as we have non-renewed most of that business. Proformance Insurance Company will
continue to offer renewals until the last policy expires in March 2003. Personal Lines felt the impact of that busi-
ness in 2002 through adverse claims development. Homeowners is the most problematic Personal Lines business,
not only for us but for the entire industry. We saw modest improvement in 2002 and are optimistic that we can
return the line to an underwriting profit over the next several years.

Our commitment to technology remains strong, and we are still on target with our ambitious internal
development of the new Policy Administration Rating and Issuance System (PA.R.I.S.*). PA.R.L.S$ is in produc-
tion for every standard commercial product (by the way, a full three years ahead of the original plan) and the
introduction of PA.R.1.S.* for all commercial products in all of our offices is under way. We continue to study
how PAR.I.S technology will benefit other lines of business. In 2002, we successfully collaborated with busi-
ness partners to bring new technology to the independent agents with whom we do business. As part of our
“Ease of Doing Business” strategy we have developed to strengthen our agency relationships and increase our
local market knowledge, we have introduced several technological advances that will reduce the workloads and
costs of doing business for our agents.

Financial Results

There was a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002, of $.9 million, or $.01 per share, compared with net
income of $98.6 million, or $1.64 per share, for 2001. After-tax operating results, which excludes realized capital
gains or losses on investments, was a loss for the year 2002 of $30.3 million, or $.49 per share, compared with
an after-tax operating loss of $36.4 million, or $.61 per share, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.
After-tax realized capital gains for 2002 were $29.4 million, compared with $135.0 million of capital gains in the
same period of 2001. Consolidated before-tax net investment income was $207.1 million in the current year, a
decrease of $5.3 million over the same period of 2001 as a result of lower interest rates on new funds invested.

Renewal price increase efforts and favorable market conditions led to improvement in pricing results and
had a positive impact on net premiums written. The 2002 average renewal price increase of 16.3% for the




Commercial Lines operating segment was an increase from the 15.2% average renewal price increase in 2001. For
commercial umbrella business in the Specialty Lines operating segment, average renewal price increases were
37.2% for 2002, compared with 20.3% for 2001. The Commercial Lines combined ratio of 115.1% for the year 2002
was an improvement over 2001 despite the previously mentioned increase in reserves for certain types of develop-
ers and contractors claims. The Specialty Lines 2002 combined ratio was a profitable 94.0%, slightly less profitable
than the 2001 result. The Personal Lines 2002 combined ratio improved by 5.6 points to 106.2% over 2001, after
excluding New Jersey private passenger auto results and the transfer fee and the impact of a one-time reallocation
of loss adjustment expense reserves. The New Jersey private passenger auto results added 6.2 points to the 2002
Personal Lines combined ratio, validating the 2001 decision to withdraw from this market. Personal Lines 2002
net premiums written declined as expected due to management decisions to cancel certain agents and withdraw
from New Jersey private passenger auto and other selected markets.

Consolidated assets increased to $4.78 billion at December 31, 2002 compared to $4.52 billion at
December 31, 2001. Investments in securities were $3.11 billion at cost, with an estimated fair market value of
$3.50 billion at December 31, 2002, compared with $2.89 billion at cost, with an estimated fair market value of
$3.32 billion at December 31, 2001. Shareholders’ equity decreased to $1.06 billion, compared with $1.08 billion
at December 31, 2001. Book value per share at December 31, 2002 was $17.43, compared with $17.97 at
December 31, 2001. Book value per share excluding the agent relationships identifiable intangible asset at
December 31, 2002 was $14.78, compared with $13.96 at December 31, 2001.

Success through Strength

The Executive Management Team and employees have been executing our
aggressive turnaround strategy. Despite our third quarter results, which
were not what we expected, we remain convinced that we are heading in
the right direction, and are focused on the objectives and priorities we
cutlined in our Corporate Strategic Plan. To help us achieve our Plan, we
rely on the loyalty and strong support of our agents and the contributions
of a knowledgeable and respected Board of Directors. We have added new
directors who have considerable expertise in relevant fields, and they have
provided valuable new insight for our Board. In the year ahead, we will
continue to add directors who we know will make significant contributions
to our efforts. We want to thank Howard Sloneker 111 for his 20 years of
service on our board. In February 2003 he announced his decision not to
stand for re-election to the board in April 2003 and he will be missed. — .
Howard remains as senior vice president for human resources, and is a key Chairman of the Board Stan Pontius and
merpber of our Execgt}ve Manag.ement Team. His (.1ecisi.on was based on hig ' President and CEO Dan Carmichael
desire to open a position for an independent, outside director who has specific

experience and knowledge to assist the Corporation with its strategic direction.

We have made considerable changes in your company since our turnaround efforts were initiated in
2001. We believe the changes have been positive, and for the most part, effective, in spite of some temporary dis-
appointments. At that time, we committed to charting a new course for success. We head into 2003 with our
sights still firmly set on executing a strategy that will improve our financial performance and achieve our vision.

Thank you for your continued support of your company.

Sincerely,

|ES§ ; E)@‘) 522?77? %
Dan R. Carmichael, CPCU Stanley N./Pontius

President and Chief Executive Qfficer : Chairman of the Board



Members of the financial areas are
playing key roles in the Cost Structure
Efficiency Initiative. The financial
support team includes, from left:

Glenn Swonger, Billing & Collections
Department; Gerhard Heidlage, Financial
Management; Andy Vidourek, Financial
Accounting; and Mark Wright, Treasury
Department. Gerhard assists £VP and (FO
Don McKee in administration of the ini-
Hiative as well as provides strategic
planning support to the Executive

Management Team.

setting our sighfs...

» on a more efficient approach to structuring processes,
implementing best practices and making good business decisions

A key component of our strategy is to reduce our company’s overall
expense structure. We have made significant strides in this area the past
two years through restructuring efforts, more efficient processes and staff
reductions. Technology provided the impetus for many expense reduc-
tions, such as the National Claims Call Center (see page 7). Another
example is the Policy Administration Rating and Issuance System
(PAR.IS, which is a catalyst to spark changes in the way we do busi-
ness. It will help us achieve greater productivity and cost efficiency upon
its full deployment, initially for Commercial Lines, and then for Specialty
Lines, Personal Lines, and Claims.

In 2002, we added another dimension to our efforts. We introduced
the Cost Structure Efficiency Initiative to address expense reduction on a
short- and long-term basis. This comprehensive initiative is one of our top
Strategic Priorities and is overseen by Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer Don McKee. Expense reduction is not a one-time event, but
a fundamental business principle that must be practiced by all employees
at all levels of the organization. A large part of our corporate success rests
on our abilities to reduce our costs of doing business for the long-term.

The Cost Structure Efficiency Initiative features close to 20 teams,
focused on process improvements; organizational structure improvements;
more efficient delivery of service
and transactions; and leveraging
human resources more efficiently
to gain a competitive advantage.
One example is a long-range
vision for the Billing and
Collections Department, which
includes one billing system for
both commercial and personal
business, serviced by a cross-
functional customer service
team. The Cost Structure
Efficiency Initiative provides a
basic building block for your
company, promoting a focus on
cost and process efficiencies as
well as financial performance.
Through this effort, we will seek
out and implement the not-so-obvious expense savings that may surface
through an innovative thought process.




» on a new way to handle claims fairly, efficiently,
and cost effectively

In 2002, the Claims Operation again took a leading role in championing
initiatives to reduce costs, improve service for agents and customers, and
boost the efficiency of its many processes. The insurance industry faces
escalating challenges such as claims for asbestos, mold, construction
defects, terrorism and catastrophic events, and litigation issues. To help us
handle these and other challenges effectively, we have established special-
ized claims units staffed with professionals in bond, umbrella, workers’
compensation, construction defects and large losses. Their highly devel-
oped expertise provides an additional tool for the overall management of
our business.

Last year Claims unveiled a new litigation management program
that increases internal staff counsel, decreases outside costs, and will help
us address our loss adjustment expense ratio. Our Subrogation Unit con-
tinues to help us recover dollars and lower expenses.

For most of our policyholders, the moment of truth in their inter-
action with us is when they have a claim. In 2002, we consolidated our
claims reporting function into one National Claims Call Center. This move
eliminated the expense of maintaining separate call-in units in the various
field offices, while enhancing our abilities to conveniently serve customers
and agents. Claims also led the way in ensuring that departmental
employees receive the proper training and continuous education in order
to handle and process claims fairly, quickly, efficiently and cost effectively.

Al fild clims reporting operations
were consolidated info o National Claims
Call Center in 2002. Armend Bloch,
right, manages the 24-person nil
assisted by two supervisors, including
Kathy Oeljen, et Customer representa-
fives in the Hamilton, Ohio-based uni
dhilize sophishcated computer and
telecommunications fechnology to asis
agents and policyholders—just when they
need us most. When vildfires threatened

residential areas in Arizona last year, the

unit helped our Denver

(laims Office teke action

before the fires reached
those neighborhoods.

Researching phone number

RN

ishs and gelfing in fouch
with affected policyholders
by phone, members of the
unit backed up Denver’

efforls fo offer assistance

and information.



setting our sighfs...

» on strengthening relationships with our agents through
cutting edge technology and a unique business perspective

To leverage our traditionally strong relationship with the independent
agents who sell our products, we introduced in 2002 an initiative we call
“Ease of Doing Business.” This unique program helped us articulate in
writing the outstanding perspectives of our commitment—working rela-
tionships, excellent service, competitive products, efficient processes, and
the bottom line perspective: “minimizing the grief factor.” This initiative
was introduced first to employees, focusing on the theme “Delivering the
Difference.” We then took the message to our agents, who responded
positively to our commitment and the actions we are taking to make the
initiative a reality.

Delivering the Difference encompasses everything from the can-do
attitude of our employees to helping agents target new opportunities for
profitable growth, such as light manufacturing on the commercial side. It
includes the Agency Services Section of the Website, which provides both
information and a convenient portal to our systems.

Technology is a key enabler of our strategy. We have committed
extensive resources to ensure that our information systems fully support
our strategies and objectives. We are developing new systems using lead-
ing edge technology, allowing us to deliver excellent
service to agents and policyholders.

We've already mentioned our developing
policy issuance and rating system, PA.R.I.S.#, and
the competitive advantage it will give us upon full
deployment. But in the past year, we have made
other important strides in providing brand new
technologies to agents that help them better inter-
face with our systems. We work closely with the
agency management system vendors and other
business partners to provide innovative solutions
that are helping the agencies input and process
business more efficiently. For example, in 2002 we
were one of eight major insurance companies partic-
ipating in a campaign to enable new real-time inter-
face transactions via the IVANS Transformation
Station™. Billing inquiries that formerly took 5 to 10
minutes through traditional channels now take only
a few seconds.




Your company has taken great care to find out how we can best
support agents and their need for technology to help them succeed in the
marketplace. We established an Agents’ Council on Technology made up of
our independent agents who have an interest in this area. From them,
we’ve learned about their technological needs, their business objectives,
and how automation can support their objectives. This helps us better
prioritize projects and allocate resources to support their needs.

Technology is a rapidly changing dynamic of the modern world.
We view technology as a way for us to enhance the productivity of our
workforce, increase efficiency and cost effectiveness, and provide better
service to agents and policyholders. Our Information Systems Department
was organized to provide better support for day-to-day users as well as to
provide resources to develop new projects for now and the future. We view
technology as an important enabler of our strategy, an investment for our
future, and a required competency for strengthening agency relationships.

Agent Scott Schiermyer, far right, vice
president of the AM. Peck and Company,
Inc., Cincinnati, Ohio, is @ member of
the new Agents” Council for Technology,
established in 2002. Also pictured in the
agencys downtown Cincinnati offices are
Robert Schiermyer, seated, president of
the agency; and 0CG employees, from
left, Roger Barbe, assistant vice presi-
dent of Agency Inferface; Kyle Hayden,
Agency Interface menager, and Brian
Eggleston of Information Systems. Brian
is o member of the team that devel-
oped the PARLS Express* application,
which is just one of the new tools that

agencies use for quoting.
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A small but growing segment of
Commercial Lines is Inland Marine, cover-
ages that primarily provide profection for
portable items or specialized segments of

business. Written premium has grown fo
just past the $29.9 million mark. £ach
region also reporfed an underwriting
profit for Inland Marine in 2002.
Standing of left, Agent Steve Miller,
president of the Palmer iller Nelson
Insurance Agency, Inc. in Columbus, Ohio,
provides support fo John Gioffre of
Gioffre Companies, Inc., Dublin, Ohio, a
commercial general contractor. We under-
write the Builders Risk, o type of Inland
Marine coverage, for Gioffre, which
recently built this Lowe’s home improve-

ment store in Columbus, Ohio.

review of operations...

» Commercial Lines faces market challenges

The Commercial Lines underwriting staff has embraced the discipline
required to do business in this rapidly changing market. Due to prudent
attention to detailed underwriting, the mix of business continues to shift
toward segments and classes that present a better opportunity for profit.
Management has aggressively managed the workers’ compensation seg-
ment and lines of business that are exposed to construction defect issues,
which negatively impacted third quarter 2002 results. Due to increased
severity for claims related to certain types of developers and contractors,
the Corporation reported an increase in reserves for these claims in third
quarter. While the segment’s overall calendar year combined ratio was dis-
appointing at 115.1 percent, we are encouraged by our accident year loss
ratios, which continue to improve over previous years.

We achieved 16.3 percent price increases on 2002 renewal busi-
ness and have used this same discipline to price new business responsibly.
New business premium written excluding reinsurance ceded increased 42.4
percent in 2002. We are ahead of schedule in the development of our new
policy and rating issuance system, PA.R.I.S! This system will enable sig-
nificant cost savings and productivity gains. In addition, Commercial Lines
is developing an enhanced workflow process designed to decrease costs
and increase efficiency. Service levels to agents and policyholders have
improved, based
on technological
advances provided
to agents, standard-
ized productivity
quality measures
for underwriters and
customer account
representatives, and
the service- oriented
attitude of our
employees. Our objec-
tives are to continue
as a market of choice
for the small- to mid-
sized accounts we
target and to grow
profitable business
based on that under-
writing appetite; to
improve productivity
through improved
automation and workflow standardization; and to maintain the flexibili-
ty of our structure that allows us to respond rapidly to changes in the
marketplace and environment.




» Personal Lines focuses on becoming a competitive force

The Personal Lines Division successfully executed key strategies designed
to establish a competitive advantage by providing superior service to
agents and achieving a better marketplace understanding. Strengthening
its focus on serving agents well, the division recruited talented agents for
its Personal Lines Agency Council. Members provide valuable feedback that
supplements information gleaned from state agency council meetings.
Communications between agents, dedicated marketing representatives, and
other Personal Lines associates has been significantly enhanced by these
exchanges. This allows us to develop a deep awareness of our markets
while ensuring that services and products meet agents’ needs.

Personal Lines also focused on delivering new technologies to help
agents streamline their operations. The division is dedicated to providing
the connectivity for agents to communicate with our systems directly from
their agency management systems. This reduces costs by eliminating dupli-
cate data entry and reducing training costs. IVANS Transformation Station™
offers the latest enhancement, allowing real-time billing and loss inquires
and expanding soon to real-time quoting for all Personal Lines.

The smooth withdrawal from the New Jersey private passenger
automobile insurance market was a significant achievement in the Division
strategy to refine geographic focus. Resources are now focused on 24 states,
reinforcing our ability to develop a deep awareness of these markets.

The introduction of insurance scoring allowed us to implement com-
petitive rate levels for the majority of consumers and realize substantial over-
all rate increases. The 2002 Personal Lines statutory combined ratio, exclud-
ing New Jersey auto, improved by 3.9 points to 107.9 percent. As we continue
to pursue aggressive rate increases, while working with agents to ensure a
deep awareness of local markets, we are confident we can provide agents
with a reliable Personal Lines market while sustaining profitable growth.

Agent Brian Bartosh, left, is president of
the Top 0’ Michigan Agency in Alpena,
Michigan, and an avid supporter of
automation as a tool for his agency’s
success. Brian works with his Personal
Lines Marketing Representative Dan
Sebastian, standing, to write profitable
Personal Lines business with Ohio Casualty
member companies. Also pictured are
agency Personal Lines underwriters
Colleen Wisniewski, center,
and Nicole Kaiser,
Comments Brian: "It is such
a great opporfunity to
have one of our leading
carriers with the foresight
to work with agents to
make the workflow as

effortless as possible.”

117



12

Ohio Casualty worked-hard fo assemble
an experienced, qualified Commercial
Umbrella/Excess staff in its Raleigh and
Cincinnati monoline units and its Home
Office department. The group includes,
seated, from left: Regional
Umbrella/Excess Underwriting Manager
Arlene Bookbinder and Umbrella/Excess
Underwriting Manager Tiffany Reiner;
standing, from left: Assistant Vice
President and Counsel Jim Danehy,
Umbrella/Excess Claims; and Vice
President for Umbrella/Excess

Operations Rick Hildbold.

review of operations...

» Specialty Lines deliver stellar performance

Success and profit remained the standards for the two operations that
make up Specialty Lines: Commercial Umbrella/Excess and Bond. These
products continue to produce stellar results and impressive profits.
Specialty Lines ended 2002 with a statutory combined ratio of 94.0
percent. Written premiums for 2002 increased to $179.9 million, a 32.2
percent increase over 2001.

Commercial Umbrella/Excess

As the fastest growing segment in the company, commercial umbrella experi-
enced a 43.9 percent increase in net written premium growth this year.
Three key factors precipitated continued growth in this area: hard work by
our agents and experienced, qualified staff; impeccable service levels that
most competitors could not match; and a market that supported rate
increases in the 30-40 percent range. The majority of growth came from
increased business from agents who currently write umbrella/excess and
renewal increases. The staff is proactively targeting future growth from
other agents who have not produced business in this area. A specialized
umbrella claims unit works hand in hand with underwriters to expertly
handle the complicated claims generated with this line. The Commercial
Umbrella/Excess total net written premiums were $132.7 million; the line’s
combined ratio was 97.7 percent.

Bond

Our conservative approach to
Bond is characterized by under-
writing discipline and results
that are well above industry
standards, which allowed us to
continue our record of profit. The
overall Bond market attempted
to recover from years of unfo-
cused underwriting and its
attempts to grow through the
introduction of nontraditional
products. We remain a solid,
strong market for traditional
surety and fidelity products. The
combined ratio for this line was
81.7 percent, below the industry
average, and net written premi-
ums were $45.6 million.




seng our sights...

» on confinuing fo execute a winning strateqy

Ohio Casualty Corporation heads into 2003 with our sights still firmly set
on executing a strategy that will help us improve our financial performance
and achieve our vision. The employees of your company are working hard
to increase productivity while reducing costs; anticipate and respond rapid-
ly to changes in the marketplace; exceed the service expectations of agents
and customers; use technology to enable service and process improve-
ments; and upgrade their skills to help them improve their own perfor-
mance, and ultimately, the performance of the Company. The culture of
Ohio Casualty is changing, led by an Executive Management Team that
focuses on execution of business fundamentals; strong working relation-
ships with agents; accountability and rewards for all employees; invest-
ment in technology and employee development; and open and honest com-
munication and participation at all levels. These elements will help us
achieve our Corporate Strategic Plan and provide value to our shareholders.
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fen-year summary...

(All amounts are in accordance with GAAP unless otherwise
noted; number of weighted average shares and dollars in
millions, except per share data)

Consolidated Operations

2001

1999

Premiums and finance charges earned ] 1,450.5 $ 1,506.7 S 1534.0 1,555.0
Investment income less expenses 207.1 2124 205.1 184.3
Investment gains (losses) realized, net 45.2 182.9 {24) 160.8
Total Revenues 1,702.8 1,902.0 17367 1,900.1
Total Expenses 1,709.5 17756 1,866.4 1,763.2
Income (loss) from continuing operations (0.9) 98.6 {(19.2) 1102
Gain on sale of discontinued operations - - - 6.2
Cumulative effect of 'accounting change - - - (23)
NET INCOME (LOSS) {0.9) 9.6 (79.2) 114)
Income (loss) after taxes per average share outstanding - diluted*
Income (loss) from continuing operations (0.01) 1.64 (1.32) 1.73
Discontinued operations - - - 0.07
Gain on sale of discontinued operations - - - 0N
Cumulative effect of accounting changes - - - {0.04)
NET INCOME (LOSS) {0.01) 1.64 {1.32) 1.87
Average shares outstanding — diluted* 61.3 60.2 60.1 61.1
Total assets 4,779.0 4524.6 44894 44764
Total debt 198.3 210.2 2208 2414
Shareholders’ equity 1,058.7 1,080.0 11166 1151.0
Book value per share* 17.43 17.97 18.59 19.16
Dividends per share* - - 0.59 0.92
Property and Casually Operations

Net premiums written' 1,448.6 14722 1,505.4 1,586.9
Net premiums earned 1,450.4 1,506.2 1,533.0 1,554.1
Statutory loss ratio® 62.2% 66.5% 72.8% 66.9%
Statutory loss adjustment expense ratio’ 15.7% 13.4% 11.6% 10.7%
Statutory underwriting expense ratio* 34.9% 35.4% 34.8% 352%
Statutory combined ratio® 112.8% 115.3% 119.2% N28%
Property and casualty reserves

Unearned premiums 668.7 666.7 6%6.4 725.2

Losses 1,978.7 1,746.8 1,627.6 1,545.0

Loss adjustment expenses 454.9 4039 3760 3635
Statutory policyholders’ surplus® 725.7 7675 121 899.8

Net premiums written are premiums for all policies sold during a specific accounting period fess premiums returned.
Batutory loss ratio measures net losses incurred a5 a percentage of net premiums eamed.

Statutory loss adjustment expense ratio measures loss adjustment expenses as a percentage of net premiums earned.
“Statutory underwriting expense ratio measures underwriting expenses as a percentage of net premiums written.

Statutory combined ratio measures the percentage of premium dollars used to pay insurance losses, loss adjustment expenses and underwriting expenses.

“Statutory policyholders” surplus is equal fo an insurance company’ admitted assets minus liabilities.

*Adjusted for 2 for 1 stock dividend effective July 22, 1999.




1998 1997 1995 1993 g
(] {
§ 1,2689 § 1,209 § 12266 § 12683 § 12988 § 13807 (0.6)%
169.0 1777 1833 188, 1857 1925 (0.6)%
144 507 97 61 29 479 (15)%
14523 14374 1459.6 14625 1,506.4 16202 (06)%
13493 12639 13447 13423 1,397 15332 0.1%
849 1391 1025 %97 97.2 87.0 (1000)%
_ - _ - (0.3) -
849 1391 1025 997 %29 87.0 (100.0)%
126 190 139 133 127 112 (101.0)%
0.03 013 0.07 0.06 0.08 0.09 (100.0)%
129 208 146 139 135 121 (101.0)%
89 685 705 75 720 720 (1.6)%
48023 37788 3,690.0 3,980 37390 381638 24%
2650 400 500 60.0 700 1030 5.2%
13210 13148 11751 1110 8508 8623 25%
2112 19.56 1672 15.69 11.82 197 4.0%
0.8 0.84 0.80 076 073 071 (100.0)%
12996 1207.6 12090 12506 1,286.4 13060 (04)%
12678 12043 12234 1,264.6 1,977 1379.4 (05)%
63.7% 62.7% 66.5% 61.2% 61.6% 64.9% (0.2)%
9.1% 9.4% 9.7% 10.2% 10.0% 118% 38%
34.4% 33.2% 33.3% 326% 32.2% 33.6% 04%
107.2% 105.3% 109.5% 104.0% 103.8% 110.3% 0.4%
668.4 4949 4914 5058 5178 5296 1.2%
1569.5 11745 12158 1,268 13036 13780 4.2%
3763 3072 3318 356, 3673 3906 23%
1027, 11095 9849 876.9 660.0 7136 0.7%
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management’s discussion and analysis...

» Chio Casualty Carporation (the Corporation) is the holding
company of The Ohio Casualty Insurance Company (the
Company), which is one of six property-casually companies that
make up the Ohio Casualty Group (the Group).

Management’ Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of financial
condition and results of operations addresses the financial condi-
tion of the Corporation and the Group as of December 3, 2002,
compared with December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000 and
the Corporations and the Groups results of operations for each of
the three years. The supplementary financial information should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial state-
ments and relafed notes, all of which are integral parts of the
following analysis of the Corporations and the Group$ results of
operations and financial position.

OVERVIEW

During 2002, the Group continued to invest in its
strategy to improve the ease of use for agents doing
business with the Group and demonstrated improved
loss ratios despite the negative impact of business
written in prior years. The Corporation also complet-
ed the refinancing of bank debt with a convertible
debt issuance that aggregated net proceeds of $194.0
million as discussed further under “Liquidity and
Financial Strength.” In addition, substantial progress
was made in 2002 toward implementing the
Corporation’s strategic plan.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Income

The Corporation reported an after-tax net loss of
$.9 million, or $.01 per share for the year 2002, com-
pared with net income of $98.6 million, or $1.64 per
share in 2001, and a net loss of $79.2 million, or
$1.32 per share in 2000.

Operating Results

For the year 2002, the Corporation reported a net
operating loss' of $30.3 million, compared with net
operating losses of $36.4 million in 2001 and $77.7
million in 2000. During 2002, the Group increased
provisions for prior accident years’ losses and loss
adjustment expenses (LAE) by $84.4 million before
tax which was concentrated in the general liability,

commercial auto and personal auto product lines.
Also during 2002, operating results were negatively
impacted by expenses totaling $79.7 million before
tax related to the agent relationships identifiable
intangible asset. This asset represents the excess of
cost over fair value of net assets for the 1998 acquisi-
tion of the Great American Insurance Company’s
(GAID) commercial lines division. The components of
this non-cash charge were $10.2 million before tax in
amortization and $69.5 million before tax in impair-
ment charges related to agent cancellations or other
changes in estimated future cash flows. The impair-
ment charges occurred where estimated future cash
flows of certain agents were less than the carrying
value. The larger than usual impairment charge in
the third quarter of 2002 was due primarily to recog-
nition that certain agents experienced sustained pre-
mium revenue trends that were significantly different
from prior estimates, resulting in changes in estimat-
ed future cash flows for those agents. The determina-
tion of impairment involves the use of management
estimates and assumptions. Due to the inherent
uncertainties and judgments involved in making
these assumptions and the fact that the asset cannot
be increased for any agent, further reductions in the
valuation of the agent relationships asset are likely
to occur in the future and could be significant based
on uncertainties such as which agents will experience
events such as changes in revenue production or
profitability. The total 2002 expense of $79.7 million
before tax compares to $22.3 million before tax in
2001 and $57.7 million before tax in 2000.

Results for the year 2002 were negatively impact-
ed by the losses and loss adjustment expenses for
prior accident years as described above. The majority
of the charge, $62.2 million before tax, occurred in
the third quarter and was primarily related to con-
struction defect claims for residential developers and
contractors. The Group continues to address this spe-
cific type of business for non-renewal. For further dis-
cussion, refer to the “Loss and Loss Adjustment
Expenses” section under “Liquidity and Financial
Strength.”

Contributing to the 2001 operating loss was the
effects of additions to the Group's workers’ compen-
sation product line reserves and asbestos related

" Operating income (loss) differs from net income by the exclusion of realized investment gains (losses), net of fax. It is not infended as a substitute for net income prepared in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.




reserves and the impact of an early retirement plan.
The 2000 operating loss included the adverse effects
of write-downs to the agent relationships intangible
asset, additions to reserves, the impact of inadequate
pricing and the negative effects of premium cessions
on experience rated reinsurance contracts. Positively
impacting 2000 results was the settlement of the
California Proposition 103 liability.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, a member of
the Group, Ohio Casualty of New Jersey, Inc. (OCN]),
entered into an agreement to transfer its obligations
to renew private passenger auto business in New
Jersey. The Group decided to eliminate future uncer-
tainty and risks related to the New Jersey private pas-
senger automobile market in order to achieve long-
term strategic objectives. In 2001, management deter-
mined that it was uncertain whether profitability
would return as there were indications that some
insurance companies were receiving premium rate
increase approval from regulators while others were
not. The Group's inability to determine the future
impact of insurance reform legisiation created addi-
tional uncertainty. Both premium rate increases and
insurance reform legislation might have returned
OCNJ's private passenger auto business to profitabili-
ty, but it was uncertain as to if and when that would
occur. The Group concluded that it was a prudent
business decision to pay a fee to transfer the obliga-
tion to renew OCNJ's New Jersey private passenger
auto policies in order to eliminate the future uncer-
tainty associated with that business.

The transaction allowed the Group to stop writing
business in the New Jersey private passenger auto
market beginning in March of 2002. In recent years,
the market in New Jersey private passenger auto had
become more unstable due to the inability to control
both the volume of writings and the profitability.
Under the terms of the transaction, OCN] agreed to
pay $40.6 million to a third party, Proformance
Insurance Company (Proformance), to transfer its
renewal obligations. The before-tax amount of $40.6
million was charged to income in the fourth quarter
of 2001 with payments made over the course of
twelve months beginning in early 2002. The contract
stipulates that a premiums-to-surplus ratio of 2.5 to
1 must be maintained on the transferred business
during the three year period beginning March 2002.
The final measurement date is December 31, 2004

and will include use of the statutory insurance
expense exhibit which is due April 1, 2005, If this cri-
teria is not met, OCNJ will have a contingent liability
of up to $15.6 million to be paid to Proformance to
maintain this premiums-to-surplus ratio. At
December 31, 2002, the Group has evaluated the con-
tingency based upon financial data provided by
Proformance. The Group has concluded that it is not
probable that the liability will be incurred, and there-
fore has not recognized a liability in the financial
statements. The Group will continue to monitor the
contingency for any future liability recognition.

During 2001, loss and loss adjustment expense
reserves were strengthened by $29.6 million before
tax for the workers’ compensation product line and
$17.6 million before tax for asbestos related claims
development in other product lines. Also in 2001, the
Corporation adopted an early retirement plan. Of the
approximately 330 employees eligible to retire under
the program, 147 accepted. The early retirement plan
resulted in a one-time after-tax charge of $4.0 million
for the year.

In the first quarter of 2000, the Group made the
decision to discontinue its relationship with all
Managing General Agents. The business written by
the Managing General Agents was acquired in the
1998 purchase of the GAI commercial lines division.
The result of the decision was a before-tax write-
down of $42.2 million to the agent relationships
intangible asset. The asset was also written down in
2000 by $3.8 million before tax as a result of addi-
tional agent cancellations for a total write-down of
$46.0 million before tax for the year. In 2001, the
Corporation further wrote down the agent relation-
ships intangible asset by $11.0 million before tax as
a result of additional agency cancellations and for
certain agents determined to be impaired.

The 2000 operating results were also impacted
negatively by $23.2 million before tax for ceded pre-
miums on certain experience rated reinsurance con-
tracts covering losses exceeding $1.0 million. The
premium cessions reflect changes in estimated loss
experience, and have resulted in the maximum premi-
um cessions under these contracts for business writ-
ten through year 2000. During 2000, loss and loss
adjustment expense reserves were strengthened by
$56.8 million before tax, primarily for the workers’
compensation and general liability product lines.
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Investment Results

Consolidated after-tax realized investment gains
amounted to $29.4 million in 2002, $135.0 million in
2001 and realized investment losses were $1.5 mil-
lion in 2000. Throughout 2002 and 2001 the
Corporation and the Group sold equities, many of
which had substantially appreciated in earlier peri-
ods. This sale program was part of an investment
management decision to reduce equity holdings in
favor of investment grade bonds. The 2001 realized
gains included a non-recurring tax benefit of $16.1
million related to the sale of a minority interest in
stock of OCN]J.

Consolidated before-tax investment income
decreased 2.5% to $207.1 million in 2002, compared
with $212.4 million in 2001 and $205.1 million in
2000. The decrease in investment income of $5.3 mil-
lion before tax in 2002 was attributable to the signif-
icant decline in reinvestment rates on the high quali-
ty bonds in which the Corporation and the Group
invest. This decrease in 2002 was partially offset by
the reallocation of the equity portfolio in 2002 and
2001. The reallocation in the investment portfolio
reduced equity securities and increased investment
grade fixed maturity securities. The increase in
investment income of §7.3 million before tax in 2001
was attributable to the reallocation in the investment
portfolio noted above. Also contributing to the
increase in before-tax investment income in 2001
was the reallocation of investments from tax exempt
municipal bonds to taxable bonds. After-tax invest-
ment income totaled $136.9 million in 2002, com-
pared with $141.3 million in 2001 and $140.3 mil-
lion in 2000.

During 2001, the Corporation and the Group real-
ized a loss of approximately $6.8 million before tax
on the sale of bonds issued by Enron Corporation.
These securities had been purchased in prior periods
and were sold both prior and subsequent to Enron
Corporation’s filing for bankruptcy in December 2001.
Prior to 2001, these securities were not in an unreal-
ized loss position.

Management believes that it will recover the cost
basis in the securities held with unrealized losses as
it has both the intent and ability to hold the securities
until they mature or recover in value. Securities are
sold to achieve management's investment goals,

which include the diversification of credit risk, the
maintenance of adequate portfolio liquidity and the
management of interest rate risk. In order to achieve
these goals, sales of investments are based upon cur-
rent market conditions, liquidity needs and estimates
of the future market value of the individual securities.

The largest assets of the Corporation and the
Group are their invested assets. Consequently,
accounting policies related to investments are criti-
cal. See further discussion of important investment
accounting policies in the “Critical Accounting
Policies” section and in Note 1C. The Corporation
and the Group continually evaluate all of their
investments based on current economic conditions,
credit loss experience and other developments. The
Corporation and the Group evaluate the difference
between the cost and estimated fair value of their
investments to determine whether a decline in value
is temporary or other than temporary in nature.
This determination involves a degree of uncertainty.
If a decline in the fair value of a security is deter-
mined to be temporary, the decline is recorded as an
unrealized loss in shareholders’ equity. If there is a
decline in a security’s fair value that is considered
to be other than temporary, the security is written
down to the estimated fair value with a correspond-
ing realized loss recognized in the statement of con-
solidated income.

The assessment of whether a decline in fair value
is considered temporary or other than temporary
includes management's judgement as to the financial
position and future prospects of the entity issuing the
security. It is not possible to accurately predict when
it may be determined that a specific security will
become impaired. Future impairment charges could
be material to the results of operations of the
Corporation and the Group. The amount of impair-
ment charge before tax was $10.9 million in 2002,
compared to $12.0 million and $16.7 million in 2001
and 2000, respectively. The impairment charge in
2002 represents .3% of the market value at December
31, 2002 of the investment portfolio, compared to .3%
in 2001 and .5% in 2000.

The following table summarizes the total gross
unrealized losses, excluding gross unrealized gains,
by investment category as of December 31:



{in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Fixed moturities 832,667 635,613 626,587
Equities 10,277 2,798 12,700

$42,944 538,411 $39,287

As part of the evaluation of the entire $42.9 mil-
lion aggregate unrealized loss on the investment
portfolio, management performed a more intensive
review of securities with a relatively higher degree of
unrealized loss. In the review for permanently
impaired securities as of December 31, 2002, man-
agement concluded that of this group of securities
with a relatively higher degree of difference between
cost and estimated fair value, sixteen securities, with
an aggregate unrealized loss of $15.2 million, were
suffering only temporary declines in fair value. Of
this unrealized loss amount, $3.8 million represented
unrealized losses in the securities of Delta Air Lines,
Inc. and $5.2 million represented unrealized losses in
investment in AMR Corporation. All securities are
monitored by portfolio managers who consider many
factors such as a company’s degree of financial flexi-
bility, management competence and industry funda-
mentals in evaluating whether the decline in fair
value is temporary. Should management subsequent-
ly conclude the decline in fair value is other than
temporary, the book value of the security is written
down to fair value with the realized loss recognized
in the statement of consolidated income.

Total unrealized loss

The following table summarizes, for all securities
in an unrealized loss position, the gross unrealized
loss by length of time the securities have continuous-
ly been in an unrealized loss position at December
31, 2002:

Amortized Foir - Unrealized

{in thousonds) Cost Value Loss
Fixed maturities;

0-6 months $178279  $167,589  §{10,690)

7-12 months 54514 51,168 (3,346)

Greater than 12 manths 153,490 134,859 {18,631)

Total $386,283 §353,616  $(32,667)

Fair ~ Unrealized

{in thousands) Cost Value Loss

Equities:

0-6 months 428,885 §26612 S (2,273)

7-12 months 13,379 11122 (2,257)

Greater thon 12 months 21,733 15,986 (5,747)

Total 963,997 §53,720  ${10,277)

Of the securities in an unrealized loss position as
of December 31, 2002, the only material concentra-
tion by industry segment was in the airline industry.
The amount of this concentration as of December 31,
2002 was $9.5 million.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt
securities in an unrealized loss position at December
31, 2002, by contractual maturity are shown below.
Expected maturities will differ from contractual
maturities because borrowers may have the right to
call or prepay obligations with or without call or pre-
payment penalties.

Amortized Estimated  Unrealized
(in thousands) Cost Fair Value Loss
Dug in one year or less § 5105 § 4610 § 495
Due after ane yeor
through five years 53,702 47,862 5,841
Due affer five years
through ten years 131,355 121,060 10,295
Due after ten years 196,120 180,084 16,036
Total 386,282 353,616 32,667

Reinsurance Results

The Group renewed all of its reinsurance pro-
grams for 2002 with only moderate changes in the
program structure and pricing. The enactment of the
Federal Terrorism Act (the Act) in November 2002 has
resulted in the Federal Government acting as a rein-
surer on foreign terrorism losses, defined in the Act
as a “certified loss” that has been approved by the
Secretary of Treasury. The Group has dedicated
resources to ensure compliance with the Act.
Although the terrorist events of September 11, 2001
had a significant impact on the reinsurance market,
the Group’'s reinsurance contracts do include cover-
age for acts of terrorism. Instead of being unlimited
as in the past, terrorism coverage in the 2002 con-
tracts was modified to exclude or limit coverage for
certain upper layers of reinsurance. The Group
believes that the terrorism coverage in its reinsurance
programs is adequate to protect its financial health.
The pricing of our 2002 reinsurance program
increased only moderately from prior years. The
Group has renewed its reinsurance programs for
2003 except for the bond reinsurance treaty that is
expected to be renewed at the April 1, 2003 expira-
tion date. The 2003 program experienced moderate
increases in pricing and no significant changes in
structure or coverages.
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Internally Developed Software

In 2001, the Group introduced into limited pro-
duction a new internally developed application for
issuing and maintaining insurance policies named
PA.R.I.S*, a policy administration, rating and
issuance system. The Group continued the roll out of
the new application during 2002 to include all prod-
uct lines in the Commercial Lines operating segment.
The roll out is currently on target for completion in
2003 for the Commercial and Specialty segments. The
Group capitalizes costs incurred during the applica-
tion development stage, primarily relating to payroll
and payroll-related costs for employees, along with
costs incurred for external consultants who are
directly associated with the internal-use software pro-
ject. The cost associated with this application is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of ten years from the date placed into ser-
vice. Upon'full implementation, the new application
should impact results by approximately $4.0 million
to $6.0 million before tax per year in amortization
expense until 2012. Although management believes
the carrying value of the asset represents its fair
value, the useful life of the internally developed soft-
ware was determined by using certain assumptions
and estimates. Inherent changes in these assump-
tions could result in an immediate impairment to the
asset and a corresponding charge to net income.

Statutory Results

Management analyzes statutory results through
the use of insurance industry financial measures
including statutory loss and loss adjustment expense
ratios, statutory underwriting expense ratio, statu-
tory combined ratio, net premiums written and net
premiums earned. The statutory combined ratio is
the sum of the statutory loss ratio, the statutory loss
adjustment expense ratio, and the statutory under-
writing expense ratio. The statutory combined ratio
is a commonly used gauge of underwriting perfor-
mance measuring the percentages of premium dol-
lars used to pay insurance losses and related expens-
es. All references to combined ratio or its compo-
nents in the MD&A are calculated on a statutory
accounting basis and are calculated on a calendar
year basis unless specified on an accident year basis.
The combined ratios and component ratios presented
for the year ended December 31, 2002 exclude a $7.3

million before-tax charge for the statutory additional
minimum pension liability related to the underfund-
ed status of the retirement plan. A discussion of the
differences between statutory accounting and
accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States is included in Note 16.

All Lines Discussion

Statutory net premiums written decreased $23.6
million in 2002 to $1.45 billion. This slight decline of
net premiums written over 2001 is primarily attribut-
able to the reduction in premiums related to the non-
renewal of the Group's New Jersey private passenger
auto business that began to be non-renewed in
March of 2002. Net premiums written totaled $1.47
billion in 2001 and $1.51 billion in 2000. The net
premiums written decrease in 2001 and 2000 can be
attributed primarily to a more selective underwriting
philosophy that led to the elimination and cancella-
tion of certain business and the cancellation of a
number of agents. Actions taken in 2000 to cancel
the Managing General Agents and the Group’s most
unprofitable agents and policies represented over
$150.0 million in annual net premiums written.

The Group's business is geographically concen-
trated in the Mid-West and Mid-Atlantic regions. The
following table shows consolidated net premiums
written for the Group’s five largest states:

ALL LINES NET PREMIUMS WRITTEN
DISTRIBUTED BY TOP STATES

2002 2001 2000

New Jersey 12.5% 17.4% | 14.9%
Ohio 9.4% 9.8% 9.7%
Pennsylvania 7.9% 6.8% 6.2%
Kentucky 7.7% 7.9% 8.5%
Mllinois 53% 51% 5.2%

New Jersey is the Group's largest state with
12.5% of the total net premiums written during 2002.
In recent years, New Jersey’s legislative and regulato-
ry environments for private passenger automobile
insurance have become less favorable to the insur-
ance industry. The state requires insurance compa-
nies to accept all risks that meet underwriting guide-




lines for private passenger automobile while rigidly
controlling the rates charged. In the fourth quarter of
2001, OCNj entered into an agreement to transfer its
New Jersey private passenger auto renewal obliga-
tions to Proformance. This transaction allowed the
Group to stop writing business in the New Jersey pri-
vate passenger auto and personal umbrella markets
in early 2002. New Jersey private passenger auto
made up 13.1%, 46.5%, and 43.2% of the Group’s New
Jersey net premiums written in 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively. Excluding the Group’s New Jersey
private passenger auto net premiums written, New
Jersey would have represented 10.8%, 9.3%, and 8.5%
of the total all lines net premiums written in 2002,
2001, and 2000. The Group expects to continue writ-
ing all of its other lines of business in the state.

The All Lines combined ratio increased .2 points
to 112.8% in 2002, compared with 112.6% in 2001
and 119.2% in 2000. The 2001 combined ratio of
112.6% excludes the New Jersey transfer fee of $40.6
million, or 2.7 point impact. Further excluding New
Jersey private passenger auto results in total, the
combined ratio improved 1.8 points in 2002 to
110.3%, compared to 112.1% in 2001. The improve-
ment in the combined ratio in 2002 over 2001 when
excluding the $40.6 million New Jersey transfer fee
and New Jersey private passenger auto business was
due primarily to improvement in the Personal Lines
loss ratio. The 2002 Personal Lines loss ratio
improved to 64.9% from 71.2% in 2001 excluding
the New Jersey transfer fee and New Jersey private
passenger auto business.

The improvement in the combined ratio in
2001 over 2000 was due to improvement in the
Commercial Lines loss ratio and all lines underwrit-
ing expense ratio when excluding the $40.6 million
New Jersey transfer fee. The 2001 Commercial Lines
loss ratio improved to 64.5% from 78.6% in 2000. The
2000 combined ratio was impacted adversely by
increases in the loss and loss adjustment expense
ratios. The 2000 loss ratio was impacted by adverse
development in the workers’ compensation and gen-
eral liability product lines for 1999 and prior accident
vears. Workers’ compensation added 6.8 points to the
overall 2000 loss ratio.

The All Lines combined ratio for accident year
2002 was 106.9%. The All Lines combined ratio for
the year 2002 of 112.8% reflects losses and LAE

recorded during 2002 for all accident years in aggre-
gate and is therefore 5.8 points higher than the All
Lines combined ratio for accident year 2002. The All
Lines combined ratio for accident year 2002 is .8
points lower than the 107.7% All Lines combined
ratio for accident year 2001, excluding the 2.7 point
impact of the New Jersey renewal obligation transfer
fee, based on accident year data as of December 31,
2002. Excluding the impact of New Jersey private
passenger auto business, the 2002 and 2001 accident
year numbers would have been 105.2% and 107.6%,
respectively, an improvement of 2.4 points.

The loss and loss adjustment expense (LAE)
ratios, which measure losses and LAE as a percent-
age of net earned premiums, were impacted negative-
ly in 2002 by adjustments to estimated losses related
to prior years’ business. The loss and LAE ratio com-
ponent of the accident year combined ratio measures
losses and LAE arising from insured events that
occurred in the respective accident year. The current
accident year excludes losses and LAE for insured
events that occurred in prior accident years. In total,
this increase in provisions for prior accident years’
losses and LAE recognized during the year 2002 was
$84.4 million before tax.

The table below summarizes the impact of
changes in provision for all prior accident year losses
and LAE:

(in millions)
Including NJ private passenger auto: 2002 2001 2000
Statutory net liabilities,

beginning of period 19820  $1,907.3 61,8233

Increase (decreose) in

provision for prior

accident yeor doims § 844 S 585 § 568
Increcse (decrease) in

provision for prior

accident year daims as

% of premiums eorned 58% 3.9% 37%

The combined ratio impact of this adverse devel-
opment for prior accident years’ losses and LAE was
5.8 points for the year 2002. For the year 2002, this
was concentrated in the general liability and commer-
cial auto product lines of the Commercial Lines oper-
ating segment and in the personal auto product line
of the Personal Lines operating segment. Prior year
losses and LAE for construction defect related claims
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were within the range expected for the fourth quarter
2002 after recognizing approximately $46.0 million
before tax in the third quarter 2002.

The total provision for prior years' losses and
LAE of $84.4 million recognized during the year
2002 represents 4.3% of loss and loss adjustment
expense reserves as of year-end 2001. The compara-
ble amount of provision for prior years’ losses and
LAE recognized during the year 2001 was $58.5
million before tax representing 3.1% of loss and loss
adjustment expense reserves as of year-end 2000.
This was concentrated in the workers' compensation
product line and the general liability product line of
the Commercial Lines operating segment. The com-
parable amount for provisions for prior years’ losses
and loss adjustment expenses recognized during the
year 2000 was $56.8 million before tax. This repre-
sents 3.1% of loss and loss adjustment expense
reserves as of vear-end 1999. This was concentrated
primarily in the workers’ compensation and general
liability product lines.

The 2002 combined ratio includes a reallocation
of loss adjustment expense reserve estimates related
to claims adjuster salaries, benefits and similar costs
from Commercial and Specialty segments to the
Personal Lines segment. This increased the 2002
Personal Lines segment combined ratio by 1.5 points
and decreased the Commercial Lines segment and
Specialty Line segment combined ratio by .6 points
and 2.4, respectively.

At year-end 2000, the Group reallocated its car-
ried bulk reserves in anticipation of Statement of
Statutory Accounting Principles No. 55 under
Statutory Accounting Codification, which requires
that companies carry their best estimate of loss
reserves for each line of business, while previous
requirements focused on the overall reserves. The
reallocation did not affect the All Lines 2000 com-
bined ratio and did not have a material impact on
most lines of business other than workers' compensa-
tion and general liability. The reallocation added 9.6
points to the workers’ compensation combined ratio
and reduced the general liability combined ratio by
4.7 points.

Catastrophe losses in 2002 totaled $20.8 million,
compared with $34.6 million in 2001 and $36.2 mil-
lion in 2000. The Group was impacted by 25 separate
catastrophes in 2002, compared with 19 catastrophes

in 2001 and 24 in 2000. Catastrophe losses added
1.4 points to the combined ratio in 2002, compared
with 2.3 points in 2001 and 2.4 points in 2000. The
effects of catastrophes on the Corporation’s results
cannot be accurately predicted. As such, severe
weather patterns, acts of war or terrorist activities
could have a material adverse impact on the
Corporation’s results, reinsurance pricing and avail-
ability of reinsurance.

Catastrophe losses, net of reinsurance, for each of
the last three years were:

Catastrophe Losses

(beforedx) 002 2001
Dollar Impact (in millions)

Statutory Combined
Ratio Impact

The underwriting expense ratio, which measures
underwriting expenses as a percentage of net premi-
ums written, decreased by .5 points in 2002 to
34.9%, compared with 35.4% in 2001 and 34.8% in
2000. The 2001 underwriting expense ratio includes
2.7 points from the $40.6 million charge for the New
Jersey transfer fee. The underwriting expense ratio
for the year 2002 increased compared to the year
2001, after excluding the 2.7 point impact of the
New Jersey transfer fee, in part due to two factors
with a total impact of approximately 1.6 points.
These two factors were the non-renewal of the New
Jersey private passenger auto business, which had
lower commission rates and lower variable process-
ing costs than most other business, and the elimina-
tion of ceding commissions received in previous
years on umbrella premiums ceded to reinsurers. The
2002 commission expense ratio, a component of the
underwriting expense ratio, was 17.8% or 1.2 points
higher than expected due to higher than expected
umbrella net premiums written, which has a rela-
tively high commission rate on a net of reinsurance
basis, and more importantly, due to higher than
expected accruals for agent bonus commissions, as
certain agents were more profitable than expected.
This higher commission expense reflected the
improved loss ratio for 2002, which at 62.2% for the
year 2002 was a 4.3 point improvement over the
year 2001 of 66.5%. Excluding the New Jersey trans-
fer fee, the 2.1 point improvement in the 2001




underwriting expense ratio compared with the ratio
in 2000 was the result of actions to lower commis-
sions, eliminate workers’ compensation policyholder
dividends and decrease the employee count. The
actions to lower commissions to current market
levels for selected product lines improved the 2001
underwriting expense ratio .5 points. The actions to
eliminate workers’ compensation policyholders divi-
dends on new and renewal business and changes in
reserves for dividends of issued policies improved
the 2001 underwriting ratio .7 points. Reductions in
employee count continued to improve results in
2002. The employee count was 3,004 as of December
31, 2002, compared with 3,365 at December 31,
2001 and 3,470 at December 31, 2000.

The 2002 and 2001 underwriting expenses also
included $2.6 million and $.5 million of software
amortization expense before tax, respectively, related
to the rollout of a new internally developed software
application. On a statutory accounting basis, the new
application is being amortized over a five-year period
in accordance with statutory accounting principles.
For year 2003, the Group will substantially complete
the rollout of the new application for Commercial and
Specialty segments. Upon full implementation, the
impact on statutory expenses is expected to be

Statutory Combined Ratios

approximately $8.0 million to $12.0 million in
annual amortization expense before tax through
2007. The additional cost is expected to be offset in
part by reduced labor costs related to underwriting
and policy processing.

Segment Discussion

In June of 2001, the Corporation introduced an
organizational structure around three business units:
Commercial Lines, Specialty Lines, and Personal
Lines. These business units represent the
Corporation’s operating segments as well as its
reportable segments. Within each operating segment
are distinct insurance product lines that generate rev-
enues by selling a variety of personal, commercial,
and surety insurance products. The Commercial Lines
operating segment sells commercial multiple peril,
commercial auto, general liability, and workers’ com-
pensation insurance as its primary products. The
Specialty Lines operating segment sells commercial
umbrella and bond insurance as its primary products.
The Personal Lines operating segment sells personal
automobile and homeowners insurance as its primary
products. The Corporation also has an all other seg-
ment, which derives its revenue from investment
income and premium financing.

(by aperating segment, including selected Accident Year Actident Year Accident Yeor
major product fines) 20029 2002 2001 2001 2000 2000
Commercial Lines 115.1% 104.9% 116.2% 109.1% 130.0% 122.8%
Workers’ Compensation 129.2% 123.0% 138.6% 115.1% 165.6% 138.9%
Auto Commercial 110.2% 101.7% 107.6% 105.1% 121.5% 119.1%
General Liability 171.3% 113.4% 120.8% 124.3% 126.9% 104.0%
CMP, Fire & Inland Marine 95.8% 96.1% 106.4% 102.7% 111.1% 119.1%
Specialty Lines 94.0% 95.4% 90.8% 85.1% 79.8% 89.3%
Commercial Umbrella 97.7% 98.8% 93.6% 85.1% 81.9% 90.6%
Fidelity & Surety 81.7% 84.4% 76.8% 77.1% 70.7% 80.6%
Personal Lines(s) 114.1% 111.8% 112.9% 110.4% 113.5% 117.3%
Autop)d 116.3% 113.6% 109.9% 108.0% 111.9% 114.9%
Homeowrners 110.3% 111.3% 120.5% 118.8% 119.6% 125.7%
Total All Lines(d 112.8% 106.9% 112.6% 107.7% 119.2% 118.1%

(a) Al combined ratios and all component ratios presented for the year 2002 excude 57.3 million before-tax ~ {d) Accident Year 2001 and Calendar Year 2001 exclude 2.7 point impoct of New Jersey renewal obliga-

charge for statutory additional minimum pension fiability.
(b} Personal Automohile includes both Auto-Agency and Auto-Direct.

tion transfer fee. Including the transfer fee, the All Lines Accident Year 2001 and Calendar Year 200
statutory combined ratios would have been 110.4% and 115.3%, respectively.

(0} Accident Year 2001 ond Colendar Year 2001 exdude 9.0 point impact of New Jersey renewal obligation {e) Accident Year 2001 and Calendor Year 2001 exclude 6.3 point impact of New Jersey renewal obligation

tansfer fee. Including the transfer fee, the Automohile-Personal Accident Year 2001 and Calendar Year

20071 stotutory combined atios would have been 117.0% and 118.9%, respectively.

transfer fes. Including the transfer fes, the Personal Lines Accident Year 2001 and Calendar Yeor 2001
combined atios would have bean 116.7% and 119.2%, respectively.
() The meosurement date for Accident Yeor data is December 31, 2002.
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Commercial Lines Segment

Commercial Lines combined ratio for the year
2002 decreased 1.1 points to 115.1% from 116.2% in
2001. This.improvement was not as great as expected
due to $73.9 million of development in loss and loss
adjustment expenses from prior years adding 10.2
points to the combined ratio. Of this amount, approx-
imately $51.6 million of development from prior
years was related to construction defect issues which
added 7.1 points to the combined ratio for 2002. The
2000 combined ratic was 130.0%. Renewal price
increases had a positive impact during 2002 and
2001. The 2002 average renewal price increase’ was
16.3% for the Commercial Lines direct premiums writ-
ten, compared with a 15.2% average renewal price
increase in 2001.

While improving, the workers' compensation
product line in the Commercial Lines segment nega-
tively impacted this year's All Lines results. Workers’
compensation combined ratio decreased 9.4 points in
2002 to 129.2%, compared with 138.6% and 165.6%
for 2001 and 2000, respectively. The loss ratio was
the main component driving the high combined ratio.
The 2002 workers’ compensation loss ratio was
80.6%, compared with 95.8% and 118.8% in 2001 and
2000, respectively. Adverse development of prior year
losses due to an increase in claims severity con-
tributed to tthe poor 2002 and 2001 results. The 2002
accident year loss ratio of 78.3% was 2.3 points lower
than the calendar year loss ratio, and the 2001 acci-
dent year loss ratio of 76.9% is 18.9 points lower
than the calendar year loss ratio. The poor results in
the workers’ compensation product line in 2000
added 6.8 points to the All Lines loss ratio, when
including the year-end reserve reallocation mentioned
in the “All Lines Discussion” section.

In response to the deterioration of results, the
Group took action in 2000 to begin non-renewing its
most unprofitable workers’ compensation policies.
This business had a loss ratio of approximately 10
points higher than the total workers’ compensation

product line and is referred to as unsupported work-
ers’ compensation as it is the only product in the
customer’s account. As mentioned in the “Operating
Results” section, the Group also took action to dis-
continue its relationship with Managing General
Agents. These Managing General Agents accounted
for $29.0 million in annual workers’ compensation
premium. The runoff of the unsupported workers’
compensation business and Managing General
Agent business was substantially completed by the
end of 2001.

The Group continued to achieve average renewal
price increases for workers' compensation of 20.1%
for 2002, compared with increases of 16.6% and
12.4% for 2001 and 2000, respectively. Net premiums
written for 2002, 2001 and 2000 totaled $143.9 mil-
lion, $148.6 million and $185.8 million, respectively.

Due to continued underwriting and pricing
actions, workers’ compensation loss ratios should
continue to show improvement. In 2002, the loss
ratio decreased 15.2 points from 2001. Accident year
claim counts for 2002 decreased 18.0% from 2001,
New and renewal pricing remains strong for this line
of business.

The commercial auto product line net premiums
written increased $26.7 million, or 14.3% in 2002 to
$213.4 million, compared with $186.7 million in
2001 and $178.7 million in 2000. The 2002 and
2001 increase was driven by renewal price increases,
averaging 15.2% and 15.5%, respectively.

The 2002 commercial auto combined ratio
increased to 110.2%, from 107.6% in 2001. The com-
bined ratio was 121.5% in 2000. The increase in the
combined ratio from 2001 is due to greater than
expected average settlement amounts (loss severity)
from prior years. The improvement in 2001 was
largely due to better underwriting and risk selection
and the effect of renewal price increases. The year
2000 was hindered by increased severity combined
with inadequate pricing. The accident year loss ratios
for this line of business continue to show significant

* When used in this report, renewal price increase means the average increase in premium for policies renewed by the Group. The average increase in premiums for each
renewed policy is calculated by comparing the fofal expiring premium for the policy with the tota! renewal premium for the same policy. Renewal price increases include,
omong other things, the effects of rate increases and changes in the underlying insured exposures of the policy. Only policies issued by the Group in the previous policy ferm
with the same policy identification codss are included. Therefore, renewal price increases do not include changes in premiums for newly issued policies and business assumed
through reinsurance agresments, including Great American business not yet issued in the Group’s systems. Renewal prics increases also do not reflect the cost of any reinsur-

ance purchasedlon the policies issued.




improvement from 74.0% in 2000 to 61.5% in 2001 to
57.6% in 2002, resulting in accident year combined
ratios of 119.1% in 2000, 105.1% in 2001 and 101.7%
in 2002.

Net premiums written for the commercial multi-
ple peril, fire and inland marine product lines
increased 16.4% to $320.4 million in 2002, compared
with $275.2 million in 2001 and $276.5 million in
2000. The combined ratio decreased to 95.8% in 2002
from 106.4% in 2001 and 111.1% in 2000. The
improvement resulted from strong new and renewal
pricing and more selective and focused underwriting.

Net premiums written for the monoline general
liability product line increased $5.4 million, or 6.9%
in 2002 to $84.5 million, compared with $79.0 mil-
lion in 2001 and $80.7 million in 2000. The increase
is due to higher new and renewal pricing levels. The
2001 decrease reflected the Group's focus on funda-
mental underwriting strategies.

The general liability combined ratio increased
50.5 points in 2002 to 171.3%, compared with
120.8% in 2001 and 126.9% in 2000. The higher
than desired 2002 loss ratio is attributable to 57.8
points of adverse development from prior accident
years. The accident year combined ratio for 2002
was 113.4%. The difference between the accident
and calendar year results is primarily due to
increases in residential general contractors and
developers related construction defect reserves
established for prior accident years in 2002 due to
greater than expected frequency and loss severity.
The construction defect issues are being addressed
by continuing and expanding previous underwriting
actions on certain segments that are more prone to
construction defect claims.

Specialty Lines Segment

Specialty Lines combined ratio for the year 2002
was higher, but still profitable, at 94.0%, compared
with 90.8% and 79.8% for 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The fidelity & surety product lines in the
Specialty Lines segment contributed to the favorable
results for the segment. Fidelity & surety net premi-
ums written increased $6.9 million, or 17.8% in
2002 to $45.6 million, compared with $38.7 million
in 2001 and $37.6 million in 2000. The combined
ratio was 81.7% in 2002, compared with 76.8% in
2001 and 70.7% in 2000. During the fourth quarter

2002, there was a return of ceded premium of $5.3
million before tax for the bond business in the
Specialty Lines operating segment. This return of
ceded premium was due to the exercise of a contrac-
tual option on the bond reinsurance treaty based on
highly favorable bond combined ratios over the past
fourteen years.

Net premiums written for the commercial
umbrella product line increased $40.5 million, or
43.9% in 2002 to $132.7 million, compared with
$92.2 million in 2001 and $65.6 million in 2000.
The 2002 and 2001 increases were primarily gener-
ated by renewal price increases in 2002, 2001 and
2000. The average renewal price increase in 2002
was 37.2%, compared with 20.3% in 2001 and 8.9%
in 2000. The 2002 combined ratio was 97.7%, com-
pared with 93.6% in 2001 and 81.9% in 2000.
Although the combined ratio increased, the results
were still profitable for the Group.

Personal Lines Segment

The Personal Lines combined ratio for the year
2002 decreased 5.1 points to 114.1% in 2002, com-
pared with 119.2% in 2001 and 113.5% in 2000.
Excluding the 1.5 point impact in 2002 on Personal
Lines from the reallocation of loss adjustment
expense reserve estimates described in the “All Lines
Discussion,” and excluding the 6.3 point impact of
the New Jersey transfer fee in 2001, the Personal
Lines combined ratio would have been 112.6% for
2002 and 112.9% for 2001, This small improvement
for 2002 is attributable to the implementation of
price increases, insurance scoring, enhanced claims
management procedures, withdrawal from states that
have proven unprofitable to the Group’s operations,
and lower than average losses from catastrophes. The
Group continued to narrow its geographic focus in
Personal Lines during 2002. The Group recently
received all necessary approvals from regulators to
withdraw its Personal Lines business from Florida,
Georgia and Texas. The 2002 net premiums written in
Florida, Georgia and Texas were approximately $15.0
million. The Group does not write Personal Lines
business in California.

Net premiums written for the private passenger
auto - agency (excluding New Jersey and direct) prod-
uct line decreased, as expected due to the Group’s
strategy to withdraw from certain states, by $30.1
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million, or 9.3% to $293.9 million in 2002, compared
with $324.0 million in 2001 and $347.6 million in
2000. Selective underwriting and agency cancella-
tions contributed to the decline in premiums in 2002
and 2001. Private passenger auto - New Jersey and
direct net premiums decreased $99.8 million, or
78.5% to $27.4 million in 2002, compared with
$127.2 million in 2001 and $107.7 million in 2000.

Given the unfavorable regulatory environment for
private passenger auto in New Jersey and uncertainty
over the future profitability of the Group’s private
passenger auto business in the state, the Group
announced in the fourth quarter of 2001 the transac-
tion to allow the Group in early 2002 to stop writing
private passenger auto business in New Jersey. The
transaction, described in the “Operating Results” sec-
tion, has effectively exited the Group from New Jersey
personal lines auto business in 2002 and future
years. New Jersey’s private passenger auto net premi-
ums written represented approximately 7.5% of the
Group’s total private passenger auto book of business
in 2002, compared to 27.0% in 2001 and 20.8% in
2000. New Jersey regulation mandates private pas-
senger automobile insurers in the state to provide
insurance to all eligible consumers with limited
exceptions. This “take-all-comers” regulation elimi-
nated the Group’s ability to control the volume and
selection of writings in the state. Poor underwriting
results in: New Jersey was the primary cause of the
poor performance in 2002 and 2001. The New Jersey
private passenger auto results added 6.2 and 7.1
points to the 2002 and 2001 Personal Lines loss
ratio, respectively. Since 1999, New Jersey has
required insurance companies to write a portion of
their personal auto premiums in Urban Enterprise
Zones (UEZ). These zones are generally higher risk
urban areas. Companies are also assigned premiums
if they do not write the required quota. In 2002, the
Group wrote $3.7 million in UEZ and assigned premi-
ums, compared with $12.4 million in UEZ and
assigned premiums in 2001. In 2000, the Group
wrote $11.4 million in UEZ and assigned premiums.
Excluding the discontinued New Jersey business and
the impact of the reallocation of loss adjustment
expense reserves, the Personal Lines combined ratio
improved 5.6 points to 106.2% in 2002, compared to

111.8% in 2001. The Grouyp is implementing price
increases, coverage restrictions and claims manage-
ment procedures to improve results.

The Group began direct marketing of personal
auto coverage in January 1998. In 2000, the
Corporation first restructured its private passenger
auto - direct product line operations with an Internet-
only strategy, and later discontinued private passen-
ger auto - direct in the fourth quarter of 2000. The
product line was discontinued in order to focus on
the independent agency system as the distribution
channel for the Group. As a result of the restructur-
ing, net premiums written dropped from $6.8 million
in 2001 to $3.2 million in 2002. The Group wrote
$10.7 million of net premiums in 2000. Combined
ratios were 162.0%, 155.2% and 167.9% for 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The 2001 underwriting
expense ratio for the private passenger auto - direct
product line included $2.0 million, or 29.3 points, in
expenses for fees for the removal of certain obliga-
tions related to assigned private passenger auto
policies in New York.

Although the Group discontinued the private pas-
senger auto - direct product line, the Group remains
committed to expanding its Internet capabilities that
focus on full service options for our agents and con-
venience options for our policyholders.

Homeowners product line net premiums written
fell 5.1% in 2002 to $153.7 million from $162.0 mil-
lion in 2001 and $173.2 million in 2000. The Group
has placed emphasis on price increases, insurance
scoring and agency management. Average imple-
mented rate increases were 10.1%, 2.8%, and 6.6% in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Group intro-
duced an Insurance-To-Value program in 2000, which
addressed underinsured homeowner properties and
emphasized adequate replacement cost values.

The 2002 homeowners combined ratio decreased
10.2 points to 110.3%. This compares with a com-
bined ratio of 120.5% in 2001 and 119.6% in 2000.
Combined ratios are heavily impacted by catastro-
phe losses which added 8.7 points to the combined
ratio in 2002, 12.3 points in 2001 and 10.3 points
in 2000.



Critical Accounting Policies

Management of the Corporation has identified the
policies listed below as significant accounting policies
that are critical to the Corporation’s business opera-
tions and influence the consolidated results of opera-
tions and financial performance. The policies listed
below were selected as they require a higher degree
of complexity or use subjective judgements or assess-
ments. These policies follow accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. A brief sum-
mary of each critical accounting policy follows. For a
complete discussion on the application of these and
other accounting policies, see Note 1, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies.”

Reserves for Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses
The Group establishes reserves for losses and
loss adjustment expenses equal to the estimated
amount to settle both reported (case reserves) and
unreported claims (Incurred But Not yet Reported).
For reported losses, a case reserve is established
within the parameters of coverage provided in the
insurance policy. For IBNR losses, reserves are esti-
mated using established actuarial methods. An esti-
mate of the loss and loss adjustment expense for
each claim is developed using the facts in each case,
the Group’s experience with similar cases, the
effects of current developments and anticipated
trends. The methods and assumptions of making
such estimates are continually reviewed and updat-
ed when considered appropriate. Any resulting
adjustments are reflected in the consolidated state-
ments of income for the period in which such esti-
mates are changed. Reserves established in prior
years are adjusted as loss experience develops and
new information becomes available. Adjustments to
previously estimated reserves, both positive and
negative, are reflected in the consolidated state-
ments in the periods in which they are made and
are referred to as prior period development. Because
of the high degree of uncertainty involved in esti-
mating loss and loss adjustment expense reserves,
revisions to estimated reserves could have a materi-
al impact on the results of operations of the Group.

Investments

All investment securities are classified upon
acquisition as held-to-maturity, trading or available-
for-sale. At December 31, 2002, all of the
Corporation’s and the Group’s fixed maturity
securities are classified as available-for-sale and are
carried at fair value and may be sold prior to their
contractual maturity. The difference between amor-
tized cost and fair value, net of deferred taxes, is
classified as other comprehensive income in the
Corporation's consolidated statement of shareholders’
equity. Equity securities are carried at quoted market
values and include non-redeemable preferred stocks
and common stocks. The difference between cost and
quoted market value, net of deferred taxes, is classi-
fied as other comprehensive income. The Corporation
and the Group closely monitor their fixed maturity
and equity portfolios for declines in value that are
deemed to be other than temporary. The portfolios
are regularly evaluated based on current economic
conditions, credit loss experience and other specific
developments. When a decline in value is deemed to
be other than temporary, the Corporation and the
Group recognize a realized loss and the security is
written down to its estimated fair value. The
Corporation and the Group follow EITF 99-20
“Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on
Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interests in
Securitized Financial Assets” in accounting for the
securitized financial assets rated below AAA and
interest-only securities, regardless of rating. Upon
receipt of payments from such securities, the
Corporation and the Group determine the appropriate
amounts of the funds to be allocated as a reducticn
of principal and interest income. In making this allo-
cation decision, investment personnel consider such
factors as the original estimated average life of the
investment, the amount of funds received to date
and the timing of future cash flows. These securities
are evaluated for impairment by computing the net-
present-value of expected future cash flows and com-
paring this to the prior period estimate of expected
future cash flows from the security. When the timing
and/or amount of cash expected to be received from
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the security has changed materially and adversely
from the previous valuation, the security is consid-
ered to be other than temporarily impaired and the
amortized cost is written down to the estimated fair
value with a realized loss recorded in the consolidat-
ed statement of income.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

The Group establishes a deferred asset for costs
that vary with and are primarily related to acquiring
property or casualty business. The acquisition costs
deferred consist of commissions, brokerage fees,
salaries and benefits and other underwriting expens-
es to include allocations for inspections, taxes, rent
and other expenses that vary directly with the acqui-
sition of insurance contracts. These costs are amor-
tized over the life of the underlying policies.
Periodically, an analysis of the asset is performed in
relation to the expected recognition of revenues
including investment income to determine if any defi-
ciency exists. No deficiencies have been indicated for
the periods presented.

Aqent Relationships

The Corporation and the Group have recorded an
asset, which it refers to as agent relationships, for
the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets
acquired in connection with the 1998 GAI commer-
cial lines acquisition. The Corporation and the
Group followed the practice of allocating purchase
price to specifically identifiable intangible assets
based on their estimated values as determined by
appropriate valuation models. The agent relation-
ships asset is amortized on a straight-line basis
over an estimated useful life of twenty-five years.
The estimated useful life was based on the Group’s
actual experience for agency appointment terms for
similar agents, which averaged approximately
twenty-five years in length. The asset is evaluated
periodically as events or circumstances, such as
cancellation of agents, indicate a possible inability
to recover their carrying amount. Cancellation of
certain agents for reasons such as lack of revenue
production or poor quality of business produced
does not necessarily change the estimated useful
life of remaining agents representing the agent rela-
tionships intangible asset. Such evaluation is based
on various analyses, including cash flow and prof-

itability projections that incorporate, as applicable,
the impact on existing company businesses. The
analyses necessarily involves significant manage-
ment judgments to evaluate the capacity of an
acquired business to perform within projections. If
future undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to
recover the carrying amount of the asset, an impair-
mert loss is recognized in income in the period in
which the future cash flows are identified to be
insufficient in comparison to the carrying amount of
the asset. The Corporation and the Group anticipate
that based on future events or circumstances addi-
tional write-downs for impairment will be made in
future periods.

Internally Developed Software

In accordance with SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained
for Internal Use” the Group capitalizes costs incurred
during the application development stage for the
development of internal-use software. These costs
primarily relate to payroll and payroll-related costs
for employees along with costs incurred for external
consultants who are directly associated with the
internal-use software project. Costs such as mainte-
nance, training, data conversion, overhead and gen-
eral and administrative are expensed as incurred.
Management believes the expected future cash flows
of the asset exceed the carrying value. The expected
future cash flows are determined using various
assumptions and estimates. Changes in these
assumptions could result in an immediate impair-
ment to the asset and a corresponding charge to net
income. The costs associated with the software are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of ten years commencing when the soft-
ware is substantially complete and ready for its
intended use.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL STRENGTH
Cash Flow

Net cash generated from operations was $148.2
million in 2002, compared with cash generated of
$70.2 million in 2001 and $99.6 million in 2000. The
increase in 2002 over 2001 was due primarily to a
reduction in paid losses and loss adjustment expens-
es. The increase in cash generated from operations in



2001 was also due primarily to a reduction in paid
losses and paid loss adjustment expenses. Investing
activities used net cash of $173.7 million in 2002,
compared with net cash used of $57.4 million in
2001 and $103.5 million in 2000. Total cash used for
financing activities was $4.6 million, $10.6 million
and $56.0 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respec-
tively. Cash used for financing decreased year over
year due to gross proceeds of $201.3 million received
from the convertible debt offering that occurred in the
first quarter of 2002 which was partially offset by
repayment of the previous bank debt. During 2001,
the decrease from prior year was a result of the elimi-
nation of shareholder dividends. Overall, total cash
used in 2002 was $30.0 million, compared with cash
generated of $2.2 million in 2001 and cash used of
$59.9 million in 2000.

To further strengthen its financial position, the
Corporation did not pay any shareholder dividends in
2002 or 2001, compared with dividend payments of
$35.4 million in 2000. Quarterly cash dividends per
share for 2000 were $.23 for the first quarter and
$.12 for each of the remaining quarters in 2000.

The Corporation is dependent on dividend pay-
ments from its insurance subsidiaries in order to
meet operating expenses, debt obligations and to
pay dividends. Insurance regulatory authorities
impose various restrictions and prior approval
requirements on the payment of dividends by insur-
ance companies and holding companies. As of
December 31, 2002, approximately $112.5 million of
statutory surplus was not subject to prior dividend
approval requirements. Additional restrictions may
result from the minimum net worth and surplus
requirement in the credit agreement.

The following table presents the Corporation’s
obligations (other than obligations relating to its
ordinary insurance operations) to make future pay-
ments under contractual obligations:

(S in millions) Payments Due by Period

Less than 13 4.5 Mter5
Contractual Obfigations Total Tyear  yeors  years  years
Deb $205.8 S 6 819 S14 9009
Opercting leases 114 54 60 - -
New Jersey transfer fee 68 68 -

Total contractual
cash obligations S2240 128 579 S14 S2009

Debt

As of December 31, 2002, the Corporation had
$205.8 million of principal outstanding on debt that
includes a $4.5 million low interest loan with the
state of Ohio. During the year 2002, the Corporation
completed an offering of 5.00% convertible notes, in
an aggregate principal amount of $201.3 million,
due March 19, 2022 and generated net proceeds of
$194.0 million. The issuance and related costs are
being amortized over the life of the notes and are
being recorded as related fees. The liability for debt
is reported on the balance sheet net of the unamor-
tized fees. The Corporation uses the effective inter-
est rate method to record the interest and related
fee amortization. Interest is payable on March 19
and September 19 of each year, beginning
September 19, 2002. The notes may be converted
into shares of the Corporation’s common stock
under certain conditions, including: if the price per
share of the Corporation’s common stock reaches
specific thresholds; if the credit rating of the notes
is below a specified level or withdrawn, or if the
notes have no credit rating during any period; or if
specified corporate transactions have occurred. The
conversion rate is 44.2112 shares per each $1,000
principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment in
certain circumstances. If all outstanding notes are
converted, the total outstanding common shares
would increase by 8.9 million shares. The convert-
ible debt impact on earnings per share is based on
the “if-converted” method. The impact on diluted
earnings per share is contingent on whether or not
certain criteria have been met for conversion. As of
December 31, 2002, the common share price criteri-
on had not been met and, therefore, no adjustment
to the number of diluted shares on the earnings per
share calculation was made for the convertible debt.
On or after March 23, 2005, the Corporation has the
option to redeem all or a portion of the notes that
have not been previously converted at the following
redemption prices (expressed as a percentage of
principal amount):

During the twelve months commencing Redemption Price
March 23, 2005 102%
Morch 19, 2006 101%
March 19, 2007 until maturity of the notes 100%
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The holders of the notes have the option to
require the Corporation to purchase all or a portion of
their notes on March 19 of 2007, 2012 and 2017 at
100% of the principal amount of the notes. In addi-
tion, upon a change in control of the Corporation
occurring anytime prior to maturity, holders may
require the Corporation to purchase for cash all or a
portion of their notes at 100% of the principal
amount plus accrued interest.

Additionally, on July 31, 2002 the Corporation
entered into a revolving credit agreement. Under the
terms of the credit agreement, the lenders agreed to
make loans to the Corporation in an aggregate
amount up to $80.0 million for general corporate
purposes. The agreement requires the Corporation to
maintain minimum net worth of $800.0 million.
The credit agreement also includes a minimum
statutory surplus requirement for The Ohio Casualty
Insurance Company of $625.0 million through
September 30, 2003, increasing to $650.0 million
thereafter. Additionally, other covenants and cus-
tomary provisions are included in the agreement.
The credit agreement expires on March 15, 2005.
The Corporation has not drawn on the revolver as of
December 31, 2002.

Rafing Agencies

Regularly the Group’s financial strength is
reviewed by independent rating agencies. These
agencies may upgrade, downgrade, or affirm their
previous ratings of the Group. These agencies may
also place an outlook on the Group’s rating. On
March 11, 2002, Standard & Poor's Rating Services
(S&P) removed its negative outlook and placed a
stable outlook on the Group’s “BBB” financial

Ohio Casualty Corporation Quarterly High/Low Market Price Per Share

Q1

634 630

02 Q3 04 Q1 02 03 o Q2 03 o4
2002 2000

strength rating. S&P also announced that it
assigned its “BB" senior debt rating on the
Corporation's convertible notes. Following the
Corporation's announcement of third quarter 2002
results, S&P indicated that financial strength rating
would be reviewed for possible downgrade, however
to date there has been no change. S&P revised its
outlook to negative from stable based upon the
Corporation’s announcement of third quarter 2002
results. On March 13, 2002, Moody’s Investor
Services (Moody’s) assigned its “Baa2” rating to the
Corporation’s convertible notes. On November 27,
2002, Moody’s downgraded the Group’s “A2" finan-
cial strength rating to *A3” and placed a stable out-
look on the Group's rating. Moody’s also announced
that it placed a “Baa3” rating on the Corporation’s
convertible notes. On March 14, 2002, Fitch, Inc.
(Fitch) assigned its “BBB-" rating to the
Corporation’s convertible notes and placed a stable
outlook on its rating. On November 5, 2002, Fitch,
affirmed its “BBB-” rating on the Corporation's con-
vertible notes and placed a stable cutlook on its
rating. On September 6, 2002, A.M. Best Company
affirmed the Group’s financial strength rating of ‘A-"
and assigned a positive outlook. In addition, A.M.
Best Company assigned an initial rating of “bbb” to
Ohio Casualty Corporation's convertible notes. On
November 4, 2002, A.M. Best Company affirmed its
financial strength rating of “A-" for the Group and
maintained its positive outlook.

Statutory Surplus

Statutory surplus, a traditional insurance indus-
try measure of strength and underwriting capacity,
was $725.7 million at December 31, 2002, compared
with $767.5 million at December 31, 2001 and
$812.1 million at December 31, 2000. Statutory sur-
plus decreased 5.4% from 2001 resulting from the
decline in the market value of its equity investment
portfolio offset by statutory income and other surplus
changes. On January 1, 2001, statutory surplus was
reduced by $21.7 million to $790.4 million for the
cumulative effect of adopting new required statutory
accounting principles. The 2001 surplus was further
reduced by the $26.8 million after-tax charge associ-
ated with the New Jersey private passenger auto
transfer and a decrease in the market value of the
equity investment portfolio. Statutory surplus



increased in 2001 due to the sale of a minority inter-
est in the stock of a subsidiary, which caused a non-
recurring tax benefit of $16.1 million.

The ratio of premiums written to statutory sur-
plus is one of the measures used by insurance regula-
tors to gauge the financial strength of an insurance
company and indicates the ability of the Group to
grow by writing additional business. At December 31,
2002, the Group’s premiums written to surplus ratio
is 2.0 to 1, compared to 1.9 to 1 in 2001 and 2000.

The National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (NAIC) has developed a “Risk-Based
Capital” formula for property and casualty insurers
and life insurers. The formula is intended to measure
the adequacy of an insurer’s capital given the asset
structure and product mix of the company. As of
December 31, 2002, all insurance companies in the
Group exceeded the necessary capital requirements.

The NAIC adopted the Codification of Statutory
Accounting Principles guidance in 1998, which
replaced the former Accounting Practices and
Procedures manual as the NAIC's primary guidance
on statutory accounting. The new policies provide
guidance for areas where statutory accounting had
been silent and changed former statutory accounting
in some areas. The Group implemented the
Codification guidance effective January 1, 2001. The
cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles
adopted to conform to the Codification guidance were
reported as an adjustment to statutory policyholders’
surplus as of January 1, 2001. The cumulative effect
of adopting Codification reduced statutory policyhold-
ers’ surplus by $21.7 million on January 1, 2001.

Reinsurance

Reinsurance is a contract by which one insurer,
called a reinsurer, agrees to cover, under certain
defined circumstances, a portion of the losses
incurred by a primary insurer in the event a claim is
made under a policy issued by the primary insurer.
The Group purchases reinsurance to protect against
large or catastrophic losses. There are several pro-
grams that provide reinsurance coverage and the pro-
grams in effect for 2002 are summarized below.

The Group’s property per risk program covers
property losses in excess of $1.0 million for a single
insured, for a single event. This property per risk

program covers up to $14.0 million in losses in
excess of the $1.0 million retention level for a single
event. The Group’s casualty per occurrence program
covers liability losses. Workers’ compensation,
umbrella and other casualty reinsurance cover
losses up to $59.0 million, $24.0 million and $23.0
million, respectively, in excess of the $1.0 million
retention level for a single insured event. The casu-
alty reinsurance treaty includes a layer of coverage
of $5.0 million in excess of $1.0 million that
includes a fund managed by the Group and the
Group has title to the assets. Ceded premiums are
paid into the fund and reinsured losses are paid to
the Group under the terms of the reinsurance agree-
ment with various reinsurers. The reinsurers bear
the risk of losses in excess of the fund. The Group's
ability to manage the investments of the fund
reduces credit risk related to reinsurers. The balance
of the fund as of December 31, 2002 was approxi-
mately $129.0 million.

The property catastrophe reinsurance program
protects the Group against an accumulation of losses
arising from one defined catastrophic occurrence or
series of events. This program provides $150.0 mil-
lion of coverage in excess of the Group's $25.0 mil-
lion retention level. The treaty was written on a mul-
tiple year basis for years 2001 - 2004 with only a
portion of the reinsurance layers expiring in a single
year. This provides continuity and maintains rates
and each reinsurer’s overall share of the program.
Over the last 20 years, two events triggered coverage
under the catastrophe reinsurance program. Losses
and loss adjustment expenses from the fires in
Oakland, California in 1991 totaled $35.6 million and
losses and loss adjustment expenses from Hurricane
Andrew in 1992 totaled $29.8 million. Both of these
losses exceeded the prior retention amount of $13.0
million, resulting in significant recoveries from rein-
surers. Reinsurance limits are purchased to cover
exposure to catastrophic events having the probabili-
ty of occurring every 150-250 years.

GAI agreed to maintain reinsurance on the
commercial lines business that the Group acquired
from GAI and its affiliates in 1998 for loss dates
prior to December 1, 1998. GAI is obligated to reim-
burse the Group if GAI's reinsurers are unable to
pay claims with respect to the acquired commercial
lines business.
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Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Group of
their obligations to policyholders. The collectibility of
reinsurance depends on the solvency of the reinsurers
at the time any claims are presented. The Group mon-
itors each reinsurer’s financial health and claims set-
tlement performance because reinsurance protection
is an important component of the Corporation's finan-
cial plan. Each year, the Group reviews financial
statements and calculates various ratios used to
identify reinsurers who no longer meet appropriate
standards of financial strength. Reinsurers who fail
these tests are removed from the program at renewal.
Additionally, a large base of reinsurers is utilized to
mitigate concentration of risk. The Group also records
an estimated allowance for uncollectible reinsurance
amounts as deemed necessary. During the last three
fiscal years, no reinsurer accounted for more than
15% of total ceded premiums. As a result of these
controls, amounts of uncollectible reinsurance have
not been significant.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The Group's largest liabilities are reserves for
losses and loss adjustment expenses. The accounting
policies related to the loss and loss adjustment
expense reserves are considered critical. Loss and
loss adjustment expense reserves are established for
all incurred claims and are carried on an undiscount-
ed basis before any credits for reinsurance recover-
able. Actual losses and loss adjustment expenses
may change with further developments. These
reserves amounted to $2.4 billion at December 31,
2002, $2.1 billion at December 31, 2001 and $2.0 bil-
lion at December 31, 2000. As of December 31, 2002,
the reserves by operating segment were as follows:
$1.5 billion Commercial Lines, $.4 billion Specialty
Lines and $.5 billion Personal Lines.

The Group’s actuaries conduct a reserve study
using generally accepted actuarial methods each
quarter from which point estimates of ultimate losses
and loss adjustment expenses by product line or cov-
erage within product line are selected. In selecting
the point estimates, thousands of data points are
reviewed and the judgment of the actuaries is applied
broadly. Each quarter management records its best
estimate of the liability for loss and loss adjustment
expense reserves by considering the actuaries' point
estimates and other known factors. Management's

best estimate recognizes that there is uncertainty
underlying the actuarial point estimates. Reasonable
range estimates around the point estimates are used
by management to validate its best estimate of the
liability.

There are several key assumptions supporting
the point estimate including those summarized
below. The fundamental assumption is that actuari-
al reserving methods, using historical loss experi-
ence organized by line of business, or coverage
within line, and accident year at successive evalua-
tion points, applied by experienced reserving actuar-
ies, produces reasonable estimates of future loss
development on prior insured events. Supporting
assumptions internal to company operations ate as
follows: recording of premium and loss statistics in
the appropriate detail has been accurate and consis-
tent; claims handling, including the recording of
claims, payment and closure rates, and case reserv-
ing has been consistent; the quality of business
written and the mix of business (e.g. states, limits,
coverages, and deductibles) have been consistent;
rate changes and changes in policy provisions have
been measured accurately; reinsurance coverage has
been consistent and reinsured losses are collectible.
To the extent any of the above factors have changed
over time, attempts must be made to quantify and
adjust for the changes. Supporting assumptions
related to the external environment are as follows:
tort law and the legal environment have been con-
sistent; coverage interpretation by the courts has
been consistent; regulations regarding coverage pro-
visions have been consistent; loss inflation has
been relatively steady. To the extent any of the
above factors have changed over time, attempts
must be made to quantify and adjust for the
changes. The more the inconsistency, the greater the
uncertainty of the loss reserve estimates. ’

The Group has three categories of loss and loss
adjustment expense reserves that it considers highly
uncertain, and therefore, could have a material
impact on future financial results and financial posi-
tion: asbestos and environmental liability exposures,
construction defect exposures, and excess capacity
liability exposures. These categories are described
below with relevant historical data.

In recent years, asbestos and environmental lia-
bility claims have expanded greatly in the insurance




industry. Historically, the Group has written small
commercial accounts and has not sold policies with
significant manufacturing liability coverages.
Within the manufacturing category, the Group has
concentrated on the light manufacturers, which fur-
ther limits exposure to environmental claims.
Consequently, the Group believes it does not have
exposure to the primary defendants involved in
major asbestos litigation. The Group’s exposure to
asbestos is related to installers and distributors as
opposed to the large manufacturers. In 2001, the
Group increased reserves because of the expansion
of litigation to these types of business. A significant
part of the Group's exposure to environmental lia-
bility is related to underground storage tanks. The
Group has limited exposures to the national priority
list. In 2002, the Group re-classified approximately
$5.0 million of homeowners reserves related to
underground storage tanks as environmental
reserves. Due to the relatively small exposure to
asbestos and environmental liability and the unique
nature of this exposure, the Group does not rely on
claim count data in determining reserves. For 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively, the asbestos and envi-
ronmental reserves, net of reinsurance, were $54.1
million, $49.1 million and $40.4 million. Asbestos
reserves were $27.9 million, $29.4 million and
$13.5 million and environmental reserves were
$26.2 million, $19.7 million and $26.9 million for
those respective years.

The Group defines construction defect exposure
as liability for allegations of defective work and
completed operations losses from general liability,
commercial multiple peril liability and umbrella lia-
bility policies involving multiple-units
(condos/townhouses/apartments/tracts of single
family homes), multiple defendants (e.g. developers,
sub-contractors), usually with multiple defect
issues, and often involving multiple insurance carri-
ers. The Group excludes from the definition claims
related to individual single family homes, apart-
ments/townhomes or other residential properties if
the defect issues are limited in scope and volume.

The number of construction defect claims report-
ed in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, were 213,
169 and 118. The paid losses, net of reinsurance, in
2002 were $10.1 million, compared to $6.3 million

in 2001 and $1.8 million in 2000. The paid allocated
loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance, for
construction defect claims were $4.6 million in 2002,
compared with $2.1 million in 2001 and $2.0 million
in 2000. These totals exclude construction defect
losses from the state of California. Although the
Group has construction defect losses from California
exposure, it excludes California from this data
because the Group stopped writing in the state in
1993 and the remaining claims are minimal and of a
different nature than our exposure in the rest of the
country. This data also includes claims assumed
from the GAI acquisition beginning in November
2001, slightly distorting the 2001 numbers.

The Group writes excess capacity liability busi-
ness with large policy limits that are heavily rein-
sured. There have been very few losses to date on
this business, but the large policy limits increase
the uncertainty of future losses before the applica-
tion of reinsurance. There is a relatively small
amount of loss data available for this business. The
Group's coverage for approximately three-fourths of
this business written during 2002 begins when
losses or loss adjustment expenses on an individual
claim reaches $10.0 million or more. The Group's
limit of coverage on an individual claim for approxi-
mately two-thirds of this business written during
2002 is $25.0 million. Reinsurance purchased by
the Group limits its retention of losses to $1.0 mil-
lion. During 2002, the Group wrote approximately
1,700 of these excess capacity liability policies, rep-
resenting an annual growth of approximately 20%
since 2000.

Results for the year 2002 were negatively
impacted by losses and loss adjustment expenses
for prior accident years totaling $84.4 million before
tax on an All Lines basis. For the Commercial Lines
operating segment, the losses and loss adjustment
expenses for prior accident years recorded during
2002 were $73.9 million before tax and were con-
centrated in the general liability, commercial auto-
mobile and workers' compensation product lines.
Comparable Commercial Lines amounts for 2001
and 2000 were $44.6 million and approximately
$62.1 million, respectively. In both 2001 and 2000,
this was concentrated in the workers’ compensation
and general liability product lines. The 2000
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amount included the commercial umbrella product
line as it was combined with the general liability
product line at that time for purposes of accident
year analyses.

For the Specialty Lines operating segment, the
losses and loss adjustment expenses for prior acci-
dent years recorded during 2002 was $(2.2) million
and was concentrated in the commercial umbrella
product line. Comparable amounts for 2001 and
2000 were $4.1 million and approximately $(3.5)
million, respectively. In 2001, this was concentrated
in the commercial umbrella product line. For 2000,
the favorable development was from the bond prod-
uct line. For 2000, the commercial umbrella product
line was:included with the general liability product
line in accident year analyses.

For the Personal Lines operating segment there
was $12.7 million losses or loss adjustment expenses
for prior accident years recorded during 2002.
Comparable amounts for 2001 and 2000 were $9.8
million and approximately $(1.8) million, respective-
ly. In 2001, this was concentrated in the homeowners
product line. In 2000, favorable development
occurred in the personal automobile product line.

The losses and loss adjustment expenses on prior
accident years totaling $84.4 miltion reflect an
update to estimates for reserves based on new infor-
mation during the year 2002, resulting in recognition
during 2002. Each quarter during 2000 through 2002
a thorough loss reserve study was conducted using
data and other information updated and available as
of the end of each quarter. Based on these studies,
liabilities for loss and loss adjustment expenses are
established for the estimated ultimate costs of set-
tling claims for insured events, for both reported
claims and incurred but not reported claims. As more
information becomes available and claims are settled
in subsequent periods, the estimated liabilities are
adjusted upward or downward.

For each reserve study, several generally accepted
actuarial reserving techniques were applied to deter-
mine estimates of ultimate loss and loss adjustment
expense by product line by accident year. For each
accident year and product line, two or more estimates
of ultimate loss were determined and a final estimate
was selected. Key assumptions were applied consis-
tently during 2000 through 2002.

The reserve study of third quarter 2002 revealed
the average severity (loss per claim) and the amount
of legal expense for certain types of construction
defect claims that were much greater than previously
seen or anticipated. The study also indicated that
more of these severe claims had been reported and
were expected to be reported in the future than pre-
viously anticipated, despite a decrease in frequency
of other types of general liability claims. It was con-
cluded that these construction defect claims impact-
ed the general liability, commercial multiple peril
and commercial umbrella product lines. As a result
of this third quarter 2002 review, the estimate of
ultimate loss and loss adjustment expense for this
exposure was increased. For these three product
lines combined, the impact of construction defect in
the year 2002 was $62.2 million before tax. The loss
estimates for these claims are based on currently
available information. However, given the expansion
of coverage and liability by the courts and legisla-
tures, there is substantial uncertainty as to the
ultimate liability.

The year 2002 also experienced greater than
expected loss activity from older accident years for
the commercial automobile product line. This was
due to greater than expected severity on bodily
injury claims. As a result, the estimate of ultimate
loss and loss adjustment expense was increased by
$17.0 million.

Reserve development in the year 2002 occurred
as follows: $(15.8) million for accident year 2001,
$10.2 million for accident year 2000, $16.1 million
for accident year 1999, and $73.9 million for accident
years 1998 and prior. Reserve development in the
year 2001 occurred as follows: $31.1 million for
accident year 2000, $10.9 million for accident year
1999 and $16.5 million for accident years 1998 and
prior. Reserve development in the year 2000 occurred
by accident year as follows: $60.0 million for acci-
dent year 1999 and ($3.2) for accident years 1998
and prior. The amount of the loss and loss adjust-
ment expense reserves by accident year at the begin-
ning of 2002 was $625.3 million for accident year
2001, $409.6 million for accident year 2000, and
$268.6 million for accident year 1999.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses for prior
accident years were recognized during the year 2002



due to new information that caused a revision to
prior estimates for loss and loss reserves as
described above. There is considerable uncertainty
in these estimates for reasons such as: the external
environment including coverage litigation, judicial
decisions, legislative changes, claimants and juries
attitudes with respect to settlements; claim frequen-
cy and severity; the emergence of unusual types or
sizes of claims; changes in underwriting quality of
the book of business over time; and changes in
claims handling which affects the payment rate or
case reserve adequacy.

Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimat-
ing ultimate costs of claims, actual loss and loss
adjustment expenses may deviate substantially from
the amounts recorded. Furthermore, the timing, fre-
quency and extent of adjustments to the estimated
liabilities cannot be predicted since conditions and
events which established historical loss and loss
adjustment expense development and which serve as
the basis for estimating ultimate claim cost may not
occur in exactly the same manner, if at all.

Investment Portfolio

At year-end 2002, consolidated investments had
a carrying value of $3.5 billion. The excess of market
value over cost was $392.2 million, compared with
$420.9 million at year-end 2001 and $629.4 million
at year-end 2000. The decrease in 2002 and 2001
was largely due to the recognition of realized gains in
connection with the sale of appreciated equity securi-
ties and declines in the market value of certain equity
securities. The reduction in unrealized gains related
to equity securities in 2002 was somewhat offset by
an increase in unrealized gains in the fixed maturity
portfolio of $130.0 million.

The consolidated fixed maturity portfolio of the
Corporation and the Group has an intermediate dura-
tion and a laddered maturity structure. The
Corporation and the Group always remain fully
invested and do not time markets. The Corporation
and the Group also have no off-balance sheet invest-
ments or arrangements as defined by section 401(a)
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Tax exempt bonds increased, as a percentage
of amortized cost, to 1.5% of the fixed maturity
portfolio at year-end 2002 versus 1.1% at December

31, 2001. This increase reflects a decision at the
end of 2002 to add to municipal holdings in antici-
pation of improved underwriting results and to take
advantage of unique municipal market opportuni-
ties. At December 31, 2000, the tax-exempt bonds
represented 3.2% of the amortized cost of the con-
solidated fixed maturity portfolios. Due to poor
underwriting results over the past few years, the
Corporation and the Group had reduced their hold-
ings of tax exempt municipal bonds in 2000 and
2001 to maximize after-tax income.

As of December 31, 2002, the Corporation and
the Group held $1,154.3 in mortgage-backed securi-
ties, compared with $1,107.8 million and $1,124.0
million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The majority of mortgage-backed security hoidings
are in sequential structures, planned amortization
class and agency pass-through securities. Of this
portfolio, $7.8 million, $10.0 million and $13.1 mil-
lion were invested in more volatile bond classes (e.g.
interest-only securities which do not return principal
at maturity, super-floater securities which pay inter-
est at a formula rate that is a function of LIBOR and
inverse-floater securities which pay interest per a for-
mula that adjusts inversely to changes in LIBOR
rates) in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The investment portfolio of the Corporation and
the Group include non-publicly traded securities such
as private placements, non-exchange traded equities
and limited partnerships which are carried at fair
value. Fair values are based on valuations from pric-
ing services, brokers and other methods as deter-
mined by management to give the most accurate
price. The carrying value of this portfolio at December
31, 2002 was $319.4 million. This compares to
$295.9 million in 2001 and $317.4 million in 2000.

At December 31, 2002, the fixed maturity portfo-
lio included non-investment grade securities and
non-rated securities that had a fair value of $105.3
and comprised 3.0% of the investment portfolio. This
compares to a fair value of $94.3 million and $127.4
million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
These securities comprised 2.8% and 3.8% of the
investment portfolio at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Following is a table displaying non-
investment grade and non-rated securities in an
unrealized loss position at December 31:
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Amortized Fair Unrelized

Cost Volue Loss

2002 $72,981 60,898 $12,083
2001 61,500 55,000 6,500
2000 61,361 53,247 8,114

At year-end 2002, consolidated equity invest-
ments had a market value of $312.5 million. Equity
investments have decreased, as a percentage of
market value of the consolidated portfolio, from
22.7% at year-end 2000 to 8.9% at year-end 2002.
This decrease is primarily attributable to the
Corporation’s and the Group’s 2002 and 2001
actions which reduced assets invested in equities.

The Corporation and the Group use assumptions
and estimates when valuing certain investments and
related income. These assumptions include estima-
tions of cash flows and interest rates. Although the
Corporation and the Group believe the values of its
investments represent fair value, certain estimates
could change and lead to changes in fair values due
to the inherent uncertainties and judgements
involved with accounting measurements.

Market Risk Disclosures

for Financial Instruments

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from
adverse changes in interest rates. In addition to
market risk, the Corporation and the Group are
exposed to other risks such as equity price risk,
credit, reinvestment and liquidity risk. Credit risk
refers to the financial risk that an obligation will not
be paid and a loss will result. Reinvestment risk is
the risk that interest rates will fall causing the rein-
vestment of interim cash flows to earn less than the
original investment. Liquidity risk describes the ease
with which an investment can be sold without sub-
stantially affecting the asset’s price. The sensitivity
analysis below summarizes only the exposure to
market risk and equity price risk.

The Corporation and the Group strive to produce

competitive returns by investing in a diversified port-
folio of securities issued by high-quality companies.

Market Risk - The Corporation and the Group
have exposure to losses resulting from potential
volatility in interest rates. The Corporation and the
Group attempt to mitigate its exposure to interest
rate risk through active portfolio management, peri-
odic reviews of asset and liability positions and
through maintaining a laddered maturity bond port-
folio with an intermediate duration. Estimates of
cash flows and the impact of interest rate fluctua-
tions relating to the Corporation's and the Group’s
fixed maturity investment portfolios are modeled
quarterly and reviewed regularly.

Equity Price Risk - Equity price risk can be sepa-
rated into two elements. The first, systematic risk, is
the portion of a portfolio or individual security’s price
movement attributed to stock market movement as a
whole. The second element, nonsystematic risk, is the
portion of price movement unique to the individual
portfolio or security. This risk can be further divided
between characteristics of the industry and of the
individual issuer. The Corporation and the Group
attempt to manage nonsystematic risk by maintain-
ing a portfolio that is diversified across industries.

The following tables illustrate the hypothetical
effect of an increase in interest rates of 100 basis
points (1%) and a 10% decrease in equity values at
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
changes selected above reflect the Corporation’s and
the Group's view of shifts in rates and values that
are quite possible over a one-year period. These rates
should not be considered a prediction of future
events. Interest rates may, in fact, be much more
volatile in the future. This analysis is not intended to
provide a precise forecast of the effect of changes in
interest rates and equity prices on the Corporation’s
and the Group’s income, cash flow or shareholders’
equity. In addition, the analysis does not take into
account any actions the Corporation or the Group
may take to reduce its exposure in response to
market fluctuations.




Estimate Adjusted Market Value
December 31, 2002 Fair Yalue os indicoted above
Interest Rate Risk:
Fixed maturities 93,140 $2,998
Short-term invesiments 49 49
Equity Price Risk:
Equity securifies 313 281
Totals 3,502 43,328
Estimatad Adjusted Market Valye
December 31, 2001 Fair Value as indicated above
Interest Rate Risk:
Fixed maturifies $2.772 2,633
Short-term investments 55 55
Equity Price Risk:
Equity securities 489 440
Totals 3,316 83,128
Estimated Adjusted Market Value
December 31, 2000 Fair Value as indicated obove
Interest Rate Risk:
Fixed mafurifies 62,514 $2.419
Short-term investments 60 60
Equity Price Risk:
Equity securities 755 679
Totals $3,329 $3,158

Certain assumptions are inherent in the above
analysis. The Corporation and the Group assume an
instantaneous and parallel shift in interest rates and
a simultaneous decline of 10% in equity prices at
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. Also, the
Corporation and the Group assume the change in
interest rates is reflected uniformly across all finan-
cial instruments. The adjusted market values are esti-
mated using discounted cash flow analysis and dura-
tion modeling.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Ohio Casualty Corporation publishes forward-
looking statements relating to such matters as
anticipated financial performance, business
prospects and plans, regulatory developments and
similar matters. The statements contained in this
Management's Discussion and Analysis that are not
historical information, are forward-looking state-
ments. The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 provides a safe harbor under the Securities
Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 for forward-looking statements. The opera-
tions, performance and development of the
Corporation’s business are subject to risks and
uncertainties which may cause actual results to
differ materially from those contained in or support-
ed by the forward looking statements. The risks and
uncertainties that may affect the operations, perfor-
mance, development and results of the Corporation’s
business include the following: changes in property
and casualty reserves; catastrophe losses; premium
and investment growth; product pricing environ-
ment; availability of credit; changes in government
regulation; performance of financial markets; fluctu-
ations in interest rates; availability and pricing of
reinsurance; litigation and administrative proceed-
ings; rating agency actions; acts of war and terrorist
activities; ability of Ohio Casualty to retain business
acquired from the Great American Insurance
Company; ability to achieve targeted expense sav-
ings; changes in estimated future cash flows and
related impairment charges for the agent relation-
ships intangible asset; ability to achieve premium
targets and profitability goals; and general econom-
ic and market conditions.
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December 31 (In thousands, except per share data)

consolidated balance sheets...

2001

2000

Investments, at fair value:
Fixed maturities: S 3,139,774 § 2,772,104 § 2,513,654
(Cost: $2,967,504; $2,729,998; $2,470,375)
Equity securities 312,537 488,948 754919
(Cost: $92,574; $110,206; $168,779)

Short-term investments 49,839 54,785 59,679
Total investments 3,502,150 3,315,877 3,328,252
Cash 12,384 37,499 30,365
Premiums and other receivables, net of allowance for bad

debts of $4,300, $8,400, and $10,700, respectively 324,759 341,986 357,108
Deferred policy acquisition costs 181,276 166,759 175,071
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation

of $145,863, $133,213, and $122,040, respectively 97,798 99,810 91,259
Reinsurance recoverable 419,870 237,688 148,633
Agent relationships, net of accumulated amortization

of $34,100, $36,310, and $25,013, respectively 161,323 241,022 263,379
Interest and dividends due or accrued 45,961 43,319 38,227
Deferred income taxes 24N ~ -
Other assets 31,062 40,659 57,07
Total assets S 4,778,994 § 4524619 5 4,489,365
Insurance reserves:

Losses S 1,978,743 $ 1,746,828 $ 1,627,568

Loss adjustment expenses 454,907 403,894 375,951

Unearned premiums 668,707 666,739 696,513
Debt 198,288 210,173 220,798
Deferred income taxes - 3124 65,613
Other liabilities 419,646 413,829 386,331

| Total liabilities . 3,720,291 3,444,587 3,372,774
? .
Shareholders” Equity
Common stock, $.125 par value
Authorized shares: 150,000

Issued shares: 72,418; 94,418; 94,418 9,052 11,802 11,802
Additional paid-in capital - 4,152 4,180
Common stock purchase warrants 21,138 21,138 21,138
Accumulated other comprehensive income 246,160 274,359 409,904
Retained earnings 936,687 1,221,447 1,122,867
Treasury stock, at cost:

(Shares: 11,693; 34,312; 34,346) (154,334) {452 ,866) (453,300}
Total shareholders’ equity 1,058,703 1,080,032 1,116,591
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity S 4,778,994 § 4524 619 § 4,489,365

See Notes Yo Consolidated Financial Statements.




consolidated statements of income...

Year ended December 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

2001

2000

Premiums and finance charges earned S 1,450,467 § 1,506,678 § 1,533,998
Investment income less expenses 207,133 212,385 205,062
Investment gains (losses) realized, net 45,192 182,940 (2.391)
Total revenues 1,702,792 1,902,003 1,736,669
Losses and benefits for policyholders 902,731 1,001,590 1,116,271
Loss adjustment expenses 227,081 202,444 177,894
General operating expenses 108,651 111,833 103,912
Amortization of agent relationships 10,189 11,297 11,715
Write-down of agent relationships 69,510 10,966 45,971
Early retirement charge - 6,016 -
New Jersey renewal obligation transfer fee - 40,600 -
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs 376,223 375,650 394 515
Depreciation expense 11,164 10,220 12,308
Amortization of software 3,949 4,999 3,785
Total expenses 1,709,498 1,775,615 1,866,371
Income (loss) before income taxes (6,706) 126,388 {129,702)
Income tax (benefit) expense:
Current (13,885) 1731 (9,850)
Deferred 8,070 10,497 (40,603)
Total income tax (benefit) expense {5,815) 27,808 (50,453)
Net income (l0ss) S (891) § 98,580 S (79,249)
Average shares outstanding - basic 60,494 60,076 60,075
Average shares outstanding - diluted 61,284 60,209 60,075
Earnings per share - basic and diluted
Net income (loss), per share S (0.0Y) § 164 s (132

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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consolidated statements of shareholders’

equity...

Additional Comman Accumulated other Total
paid-in NG comprehensive Retained Treasury shareholders”
(In thousands, except per share data) capitl warrants income camings fock equily

Balance,
December 31, 1999 $ 1,802 § 4w |§ 2138 § 329354 | § 1237562 | § (453155) | § 1,150,987
Net loss (79,249) {79,249)
Net change in unrealized gain, net of

deferred income tax expense of $43,374 80,550 80,550
Comprehensive income 1,301
Net forfeiture of treasury stock (11 shares) (106) {145) (251)
Cash dividends paid ($.59 per share) (35,446) (35,446}
Balance, ‘
December 31, 2000 § 11,802 § 4180 § 21,138 S 409904 | S 1722867 | S (453,300) | § 1,116,591
Net income 98,580 98,580
Net change in unrealized igain, net of

deferred income tax benefit of $72,986 (135,545) (135,545)
Comprehensive loss {36,965)
Net forfeiture of treasury stock (34 shares) (28) 434 406
Balance,
December 31, 2001 § 1,802 S 4152 § 21138 § 274359 | S 1221447 | S (452.866) | S 1,080,032
Net income {891) (891)
Net change in unrealized gain, net of

deferred income tax benefit of $10,029 {18,626) {18,626)
Minimum pension liability,

net of tax $5,155 (9,573) (9,573)
Comprehensive loss (29,090}
Net issuance of treasury stock (619 shares) (124) (272) 8,157 7,761
Retirement of treasury stock

(22,000 shares) (2,750) (4,028) {283,597) 290,375 -
Balance,
December 31, 2002 S 9052 | - §21,138 | $ 246060 | $ 936,687 | § (154,334) | 1,058,703

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




consolidated statements of cash flows...

Year ended December 31 (In thousands)

2001

2000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) S (891) 98,580 S {79,249)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to cash from operations:
Changes in:
Insurance reserves 284,896 117,429 66,178
Income taxes 2,935 31991 (36,193)
Premiums and other receivables 17,227 15,122 9,094
Deferred policy acquisition costs (14,517) 8,312 2,674
Reinsurance recoverable (182,183) (89,055) (9.612)
Other assets 2,458 2,967 80,105
Other liabilities (12,429) 35,452 (8,938)
Amortization and write-down of agent relationships 79,699 22,357 57,686
Depreciation and amortization 16,240 9,978 15,510
Investment (gains) losses (45,192) {182,940) 2,39
Net cash provided by operating activities 148,243 78,153 99,646
( 0 0 1
Purchase of securities:
Fixed income (1,249,160) (1,571,538} (1,131,406}
Equity (19,498) (55,446) (80,375)
Proceeds from sales of securities:
Fixed income 948,300 1,215,596 990,390
Equity 100,947 298,659 54,817
Proceeds from maturities and calls of securities:
Fixed income 62,399 77542 57,930
Equity - - 10,200
Property and equipment:
Purchases (17,040) {22,940) {9.51)
Sales 366 764 4423
Net cash used in investing activities (173,686) (57,363) (103,532}
Cash Flows from financing Activities:
Debt:
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes 201,250 - -
Payments (205,629) (10,625) (20,648)
Payment for deferred financing costs (400) - -
Payment of issuance costs (7,337) - -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 7,498 75 67
Dividends paid to shareholders - - (35,446)
Net cash used in financing activities (4,618) {10,550) {56,027}
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (30,061) 2,40 (59.913)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 92,284 90,044 149,957
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 62,223 § 92,284 S 90,044
Additional disclosures:
Interest and related fees paid S 14,887 ) 14271 § 15953
Income taxes refunded (7,024) {1,549) (14,248)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(Alf dollar smounts in thousands, except share data, unless otherwise stafed)

NOTE 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Nature of Business

Ohic Casualty Gorporation (the Corporation) is the holding company of The Chio
Casualty Insurance Company, which is one of six property-casualty companies that
make up Ohio Casualty Group {the Group), whose primary products consist of insur-
ance for personal auto, commercial property, homeowners, commercial auto, work-
ers” compensation and other miscellaneous lines. The Group operates through the
independent agency system in over 40 states, with 29.8% of its 2002 net premi-
ums written generated in the states of New Jersey (12.5%), Ohio (9.4%), and
Pennsylvania (7.9%).

B. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of account-
ing principles ganerclly accepted in the United States and include the accounts of
Ohio Casualty Corporation and ifs subsidiaries (The Ohio Casualty Insurance
Company, West American Insurance Company, Ohio Security Insurance Company,
American Fire and Casualty Company, Avomark Insurance Company, and Ohic
Casualty of New lersey, Inc.). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior
years o conform fo the current year's presentation, All significant inter-company
transactions have been eliminated.

C. Investments
Investment securities are clussified upon acquisition into one of the following
categories:

(1) held to maturity securities

(2) trading securities

(3) available-for-sale securities

At Dacember 31, 2002, oll of the Corporation’s investments are held as avail-
able-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are those securities that would
be available to be sold in the future in response to fiquidity needs, changes in
market inferest fotes ond assef-liability management strategies, among others.
Available-for-sale securities are reported of fair value, with unrealized gains and
losses excluded from eomings and reported as a separate component of sharehold-
ers’ equity, net of deferred tax. Equity securifies are carried at quoted market values
and indude nonredeemable preferred stocks and common stocks. Fair values of fived
maturities and equity securities are defermined on the basis of dealer or market
quotations or comparable securities on which quotations are available.

The Corporation reqularly evaluates alf investments based on current economic
conditions, credit loss experience and ather specific developments. The Corporation
monitors the difference between the cost and estimated fair valug of investments fo
determing whether ¢ decline in value is temporary or other thon temporary in
nature. The assessment of whether a dedine in fair value is considered temporary or
other than temporary indudes management’s judgement as to the financial position

notes to consolidated financial statements...

and future prospects of the entity issuing the security. If o decline in the net realiz-
able value of o security is determined to be other thon temporary, it is treated as a
realized loss and the cast basis of the security is reduced to its estimated fair value.
The Corporation follows EITF 99-20 “Recognifion of Interest Income and Impairment
on Purchased and Retuined Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets” in
accounting for the securitized financial assets of the Corporation.

Shart-term investments include securities with original maturities of 90 days or
less and are stated at foir value, which approximates cost,

Realized gains or losses on disposition of investments are defermined on the
basis of the cost of spacific investments sold.

D. Premiums

Property and casualty instrance premiums are earned principally on o monthly pro
rota basis over the term of the policy; the premiums applicable to the unexpired
ferms of the polidies are included in unsamed premium reserve. Premiums receiv-
ahle represents amounts due on insurance policies. The premiums receivable bal-
ance is presented nef of allowances determined by management.

E. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Acquisition costs incumed of policy issuance net of applicable reinsurance ceding
commissions are deferred and amortized over the term of the policy. Acquisition costs
deferred consist of commissions, brokerage fees, sularies and benefits, and other
underwriting expenses to include aflocations for inspections, taxes, rent and other
expenses which vary directly with the acquisition of insurance contracts. Periodicatly,
an analysis of the deferred poficy acquisition costs is performed in relation fo the
expected recognition of revenues including investment income to determing if any
deficiency exists. No deficiencies have been indicated in the periods presented.

F. Property and Equipment

Property end equipment are carried af cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is computed principally on the straight-line method over the estimated
lives of the assets. Buildings are depreciuted over an estimated useful life of 32
years, furiture and equipment aver a threg to seven year life,

G. Internally Developed Software

In accordance with SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Intemal Use,” the Corporation capitalizes costs incurred
during the opplication development stage for the development of intemal-use soft-
ware. These costs primarily relate to payroll and payroll-related costs for employees
along with costs incurred for external consultants who are directly associated with
the internal-use software project. Costs such as maintenance, training, data conver-
sion, overhead and general and administrative are expensed as incurred.
Management believes the expected future cash flows of the asset exceed the cary-
ing volue. The expected future cash flows are determined using various assump-
tions and estimates, changes in these assumptions could result in an impairment of
the usset and o corresponding charge fo net income. The costs associated with the
software are amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of 10




years commencing when the softwars is substantially complete and ready for its
intended use. Unamortized software costs and accumulated amortization in the
consolidufed bolonce sheet were $50,250-cnd $3,655 af December 31, 2002,
§41,410 and $1,035 af December 31, 2001 and $28,764 and $552 af
December 31, 2000, respectively.

H. Agent Relationships

The agent relationships usset is an identifiable infangible asset acquired in connec-
fion with the 1998 Great American Insurance Company (GAI) commercial lines
acquisition. The asset represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net assers
ocquired. Agent relationships ore amortized on o stroight-line bosis over o fwenty-
five year period. Agent relationships are evaluated periodically s events or circum-
stances, such as cancellation of agents, indicate a passible inability to recover their
carrying amount. Such evaluation is based on various analyses, including cash flow
and prefitability projections that incorporafe, as applicable, the impac on exisfing
company businesses. The analyses necessorily involve significont management judg-
ments to evaluate the capacity of an acquired agent relationship to perform within
projections. if future undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying
amount of the asset, an impairmant loss will be recognized (See Note 15 for further
detais).

I. Loss Reserves

The reserves for unpaid losses and foss adjustment expenses are based on esfimates
of ultimgte claim costs, induding claims incurred but not reported, salvage and sub-
rogation end inflation without discounting. Reserves are reviewed quarterly using
generally accepted actuarial techniques, and any resulfing adjustments are reflected
in earnings currently. The estimates are bosed on future rafes of inflation and other
factors, and accordingly there can be no ossurance that the ultimate liahility will not
vary from such esfimates.

J. Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, the Group seeks to diversify risk and reduce the
loss that may arise from catostrophes or other events that couse unfavorable under-
writing results by reinsuring certain levels of risk in various areas of exposure with
other insurance enterprises or reinsurers. The Group records an asset s reinsurance
recoverable for estimates of paid and unpaid losses, induding estimates for losses
incurred but not reportable, that have been ceded to reinsurers. The Group evaluates
the finonciol condition of its reinsuress ond monitors concentrations of credit risk fo
minimize exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies. To the extent that
any reinsuring companies are unable fo meet obligations under the agreaments cov-
ering the reinsurance ceded, the Group would remain liable. Amounts recoverable
from reinsurers are calculated in a manner consistent with the reinsurance confradt,

K. Income Taxes

The Corporation files consolidated federal income fox returns. The Corporation
records deferred tox ossets and liabilifies bosed on temporary differences between
the financial statement and tox bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax
rates in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to revers.

L. Stock Options

The Corporation accounts for stock aptions issued to employees in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued fo
Employess.” Under APB 25, the Corporation recognizes expense based on the infrin-
sic value of options. Had the Corporation adopted FAS 123 “Accounting for Stock
Based Compensation,” the Corporation’s net income and earnings per share would
hove been reduced to the pro forma amounts disclosed below:

2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss)
s reported: § (891}  $98580  $(79,249)
Compensation expense, 4,535 4178 3,208
net of tox
Pro Forma: {5,426) 94,402 (82,457)
Basic and diluted EPS
As reported: S (0) S s S (13D
Pro Forma: § (09 S 157 § (137)

M.Insurance Assessments

The Group occrues o liability for insurance related assessments in accordance with
Statement of Position 97-3 “Accounting by insurance and Other Enterprises for
Insurance-Related Assessments.” s of December 31, 2002, 2001 aad 2000 the
liability for these assessments was S7,405, 56,582, and $4,278, respectively.

N. Earnings Per Share

Eamings per share of common stock is presented using basic and diluted earnings
per share. Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average
number of common stock shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per
share induds the effect of the assumed exercise of dilutive common stock options.

0. Statement of Cash Flows

Short-term investments are comprised of highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible info known amounts of cash. Such investments have maturities of 90
days or less from the date of purchase. Short-term investments are desmed to be
cash equivalents.

P Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management fo make estimates
and assumptions that offect the reporied amounts of assets and liabilities and dis-
closure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of financiol stotements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

The insurance industry is subject to requlation that differs by stote. A dro-
matic change in regulation in a given state may have a moterial adverse
impact on the Corporation,
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NOTE 2 — Investments

[nvestment income is summarized as follows:

2002 2001 2000

[nvestment income from:
Fixed maturifies §207,025  $208,042 199,474
Equity securities 8,634 10,676 11,234
Short-term securities 771 3,188 5,352
Total investment income 216,436 221,906 216,060
Investment expenses 9,303 9521 10,998
Net investment income 8207133 $212,385 6205,062

The gross realized gains and gross realized losses from sales of available-for-sale
securifies were as follows:

Gross Gross Net

Realized Realized Realized

December 31 Gains (Losses) Gains (Losses)
2002 § 92,346 $(47,154) S 45,192

2001 202,758 (19,818) 182,940

2000 18,728 N,19 (2,391)

The increase in realized gains in 2002 and 2001 was due to the partial reallo-
cation of the Corporation’s equity portfolio to fixed income holdings. Significant
appreciation in the equity holdings sold as part of the reallocation, contributed fo
the realized guins in 2002 and 2001.

Changes in unrealized gains {losses) on investments in securities are summarized
as follows:

2002 2001 2000

Unrealized gainsi(losses):
Securifies §(28,655)  S${208531)  $123,924
Deferred tox | 10,029 72,986 (43,374)

Net unrealized gains (losses) §(18,626)  S(135,545) S 80,550

The omortized cost and estimated fair values of investments in debf and equity

securities are as follows:

Gross Gross  Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
2002 Cost Gains Losses Value
Securities:
.. Govemnment § 26121  §52963 § (2) § 29,082
States, municipalities
and political
subdivisions 44,249 2,570 (31 46,788
Corporote securities 1,778,993 156,045 (25457) 1,909,581
Mortgage-backed
securities:
U.S. Government
Agency 52,773 2,302 {2) 55,073
Other 1,065,368 41,057 {7175) 1,099,250
Total fived maturities 2,967,504 204937  (32,667) 3,139,774
Equity securities 92574 230240 (10277) 2537
Short-ferm
investments 49,839 - 49,839
Total securities $§3109,917 $435177  5(42,944) $3,502,150
(ross Gross  Estimated
Amortized  Unrealized  Unreolized Fair
2001 Cost Gains Losses Value
Securifies ;
U.S. Government S 27775 S 1,60 S B § 293
States, municipalities
and political
subdivisions 30,057 1,271 31,328
Corporats securities 1,577,939 47945 (22,325) 1,603,559
Mortgage-backed
securities:
U.S. Government
Agency 56,307 243 (488) 56,062
Other 1,037,920 26,649 (12,795) 1,051,774
Total fixed maturities 2,729,998 7119 (35,613) 2772004
Equity securities 110,206 381,580 (2,798) 488,988
Short-term
investments 54,785 - 54,785
Total securities §2,894989  S459299  5(38,411) $3,315,877




Gross Gross  Estimated

Amortized  Unrealized  Unreglized Fair

2000 Cost Gains Losses Value
Securifies :

U.S. Government S 54290 S 1530 S (212) S 55,608

States, municipalities

and political
subdivisions 78,049 1,322 (128) 79,243
Corporate securiies 1,233,418 40427 (18994) 1,254,851
Mortgage-backed
securities:
U.S. Government
Agency 25,764 199 (136) 25,827
Other 1,078854 26,388 7117y 1098125
Total fixed moturifies 2,470,375 69,866  (26,587) 2,513,654
Equity securities 168779 598,840  (12700) 754,919
Short-ferm
Investments 59679 - 59679
Total securities $2,698,833 5668706  $(39,287) $3,328,252

The following table summarizes, for all securifies in an unrealized loss position,

the gross unrealized loss by length of time the securities have continuously been in

an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2002:

Amortized Fair  Unrealized
Cost Value Loss

Fixed maturifies:
0-6 months §178279  $167,589  §(10,690)
7-12 manths 54,514 51,168 (3,346)
Greater than 12 months 153,490 134,859 (18,631)
Total! $386,283  $353616  §(32,667)
Fair  Unrealized
Cost Value Loss

Equities

0-6 months $28,885 §26612 S (2273)
7-12 months 13,379 11,122 {2,257
Greater than 12 months 21,733 15,986 {5,747)
Total 63997 53,720 §(10,277)

Certain securities were determined to have other than temporary declines in
morket value and were written down through realized investment losses. The before-
tax realized loss was impacted by the write-down of securities for ather than fempo-
sary declines in market value by $10,891, 511,951, and $16,720 in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively.

Gross gains of $15,716, 539,821 und 514,179 and gross losses of $40,909,
635,160 and $35,858 were realized on the sales of debt securities in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respeciively.

The Group s required to hold investments on deposit with regulatory authorities
in various states. As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, these investments
had o fair value of $59,007, 555,222, and $50,863, respecively.

The amortized cost ond estimated fair volue of debt securities of December 31,
2002, by contrectual maturity are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from
contractual maturifies because borrowers may have the right 1o coll or prepay oblig-
ations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Estimated

Amortized Fair

Cost Valye

Due in one year of less S 12047 § N1712

Due after one year through five years 378,683 405,360

Dug after five years through ten years 978,118 1,054,139

Due after ten years 480,515 514,240
Mortgoge-backed securities:

U.S. Government Agency 52773 55,073

Other 1,065,368 1,099,250

Total fixed maturities §2967,504  $3,139.774

NOTE 3 — fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s financial instruments indudes cash and
short-term investments which approximate fair value at December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000. The Corporation beligves that the fair value of notes payable for 2001
and 2000 approximates the carrying valug due to the market based variable interest
rates associated with the debt. The fair value of the cnvertible debt is based on
quoted morket prices and was $186,492 million at December 31, 2002, compared
to the carrying volue of $198,288.

45




46

NOTE 4 — Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Changes in defemed policy acquisition costs are summarized as follows:

2002 2001 2000

Deferred, Janury 1 §166,759  $175,07 §177,745

The Corporation is requirad to establish a valuation allowance for any portion of
the deferred tax asset that management believes will not be realized. Management
has determined that no such valuation allowance is necessary.

NOTE 6 — Employee Benefits

Additions: The Corparation hos a non-confributory defined benefit retirement plon, o contribu-

Commissions and brokerage 254,523 237,435 249,940 tory health care plan, o life and disability insurance plan and a savings plan cover-

Salaries and employes benefits 57 652 57,559 61,067 ing substantially all employees. A short-term disability plan was implemented in

Other 78,565 72,344 80,834 2002. Benefit expenses are as follows:

Deferial of expense 390,740 367,338 391,841 2002 2001 2000

Amortizafion fo expense 376223 375650 394515 Employee benefit costs:

Deferred, December 31 §181,276  S166759  S175,071 Pension plan § 159 S(3828)  S{2816)

Health care 18,160 15,569 16,718

NOTES — Income Tax Life and disability

The effective income tox rate is less then the statutory corporate tax rate of 35% for in§urunce 1743 /78 741

2002, 2001 and 2000 for the following reasons: Sovings plan 2835 2867 178
! Total $22,897 $15,383 §17,430

2002 2001 2000
Tax af sfatutory rate §(2,347)  S44236  $(45,396)
Tox sxempt inferest (852) (875) (5,578)

Dividends received teduction (DRD)  (2,187) (2,677) (1,399
Proration of DRD and

tax exempt inferast 229 275 1,012
Loss on disposition of subsidiary stock - {16,100
Other (658) 2,949 908

Actuol tax expense {benefit) §(5,815)  $27,808 $(50,453)

The loss on disposifion of subsidiary stock in 2001 was o non-recurring fox bene-

fit reloted to the sale of o minarity inferest in stack of the Ohio Cosualty of New
Jersey, Inc. subsidiary.

On December 31, 2002, the Corporation had net aperating loss carmyforwards of
$22,110, which originated in 2000. The carryforwards will expire, if unused, in
2020.

The companentsiof the net deferred tax asset (liability) were as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Uneomed premium jproration § 34138 S 34260 S 34640
Accrued expenses 35,526 39,278 42,515
NOL and AMT carmyforward 22,634 9,612 23,250
Postretirement benefits 35,850 33,673 32,905
Discounted foss and:loss
EXpense reserves 74,991 85,579 80,647
Total deferred tax assets 203,139 202,552 215,957

Deferred policy acquisition costs (63,447) (58,366 {61,275)
Unrealized gains on investments ~~ (137,281)  (147,3 (220,295)

)
0)
Total deferred tax liabilities {200,728) (205 676) (28 ,570)
Net deferred tax asset {liohilty) S 2411 S (3124} S {45,413)

The pension cost (benefit) is determined as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Service cost somed duting
the year § 6662 S 6334 S 6,556
[nterest cost on projected
benefit obligation 17,951 17,359 17,167

Expected retum on plon ussets {22,914) (24,010 {23,348)
Amortization of unrecognized

net assef (1,735) (2,946) (2,946)
Amartization of accumulated

gains - (762) {444)
Amortization of unrecognized

prior service cost 195 199 199
Net pension cost (benefit) § 159 S (3826) S (2814

Changes in the benefit obligation during the year.

2002 2007 2000
Benefit abligation af beginning
of year S247613  S22455  $229,094
Service cost 6,662 6,334 6,556
Inferest cost 17,951 17,359 17,167
Actarial loss (gain) 15,124 6,352 (12,176)
Benefits paid {16,531) (16,020) (16,085)
Amendments 54 - -
Curtailments - 9,032

Benefit obligation ot end of year 270,873 5247613 §224,556




Changes in pension plan assets during the year: 2002 2001 2000
2002 2001 2000 Service cost §2821 51,946 62,333

Fair vlue of plan assefs of Interest cost 7,580 6,703 6,563

beginning of year S257119 273469 5277588 Amoriization of unrecognized
Actual retum on plan assefs (5,709) (1,319) 11,850 prior service: cosfs 174 215 240
Benefits paid (16,309) (15,031) (15,969) Net periodic postretirement
Fair value of plan assets ot end Denefit cost $10,575 58,864 59,136

of year §235101 257,119 $273,469

Pension plan funding at December 31 Changes in the postretirement benefit obligation during the year:

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Funded status §35772)  $9,506 948,913 Benefit abligation ot beginning
Unrecognized net gain {loss) (40,523) 3,284 37,558 of year $ 85,160 $86,973 $92,239
Unrecognized net assafs - 1,735 5,892 Sevice cost 2821 1,946 2333
Unrecognized prior service cost {1,531) (1,672) (1,896) Inferest cost 7580 6,703 4,563
Accued pension osset > 6282 56159 S 7,35 Plan participants” contributions (5,935) (5,361) (519
Eipeced long-ferm reur on fncrease due to octuarial loss (gain)

plan assefs 8.50% 8.50% 9.00% o '
Discount rate on plan bensfit chonge i drscoupt e

obligations 700% 750% 8.00% or other assumptions 18,607 (5,101 (8,443)
Expected future e of Benefit obligation o end of year ~ $108,233 85,140 $86,973

salory increases 4.00% 5.25% 5.25%

For the Company's defined benefit plan, the foir value of plan assefs was fess
than the accumulated benefit obligation as of October 1, 2002, resulting in the
recognition of a minimum pension liability of approximately $16.2 million of which
S1.5 million is recognized as an infangible asset. The remaining $14.7 million
bafore tax represents other comprehensive loss reported in the December 31, 2002
Statement of Shareholders” Equity. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the fair
value of plan assets exceeded the accumulated benefit obligation for the plan.

Pension benefits are bosed on credited service years and final average compensa-
fion for the five consecutive calendar yeors of highest salary during the lost ten years
of sewvice immediately prior fo termination or refirement or, if greater, the average

annual compensation paid during the 60 consscutive month period immediately pre-

ceding termination or refirement. Such retirement benafits are calculated considering
the individual’s Social Secuiity covared compensation. The pension plan measure-
ment date is October 1, 2002, 2001 and 2000. Plan assefs af December 31, 2002
include $17,314 of the Corporation’s common sfock at market value compared fo
§27,142 and $18,066 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Plan
holds 1,336,964, 1,684,464 and 1,684,464 shares of the Corporation’s common
siock ot December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respeciively. Plan assets also include
investments in mutual funds, common sfock, corporate bonds, common/collective
trusts, separate accounts, U.S. government securities and ofher investments.

The Corporation’s postrefirement benefit cost at December 31:

Accrued postretirement benefit liability at December 31:

2002 2001 2000

Accumulated postretirement

benefit obligation 108,233 485,160 686,973
Unrecognized nef {oss) gain (4,414) 9116 8,847
Unrecognized prior service

{cost) benefit {1,392) 2,505 (1,806)
Accrued postrefirement

benefit liability 102,427 $96,781 $94,014

Postretirement benefit weighted overage rate assumptions at Jonuary 1:

2002 2001 2000
Medical trend rate 10% 8% 8%
Dental trend rate 5% 5% 5%
Uttimate health care trend rate 5% 5% 5%
Discount rate 7.00% 7.50% 8.00%

The above medical trend rates for 2002, 2001 end 2000 were assumed to
decrease fo the ultimate rate of 5% in nine years. The postretirement benefit plan
measurement date is January 1 for 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Inareasing the assumed health care cost trend by one percentage point in each
year would increose the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of
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December 31, 2002 by appraximately $14,622 and increase the postretirement
benefit cost for 2002 by $1,753. Likewise, decreasing the ssumed health care cost
trend by one perdentage point in each year would decrease the accumulated postre-
tirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2002 by approximately $12,882
and decreose the: postretirement benefit cost for 2002 by $1,500.

The Corporation’s health care plan is o predominately managed care plan.
Retired employees continue to be sligible to participate in the health core and life
insurance plans. Employee contributions to the health care plan have been estab-
lished as o flat dollar amount with periodic adjustments as defermined by the
Corporation. The health care plan is unfunded. Benefit costs are accrued based on
actuarial projections of future payments. There are approximately 3,000 active
employees and 1,710 retired employees covered by these plans.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Corporation adopted a special early
tefitement progratn. The special early retirement program was available fo approxi-
mately 330 employeas. Of the employses eligible to refire under the program, 147
accepted. The special early retirement program resulted in a one-time before-tax
charge of $6,016, or $3,971 after tax to 2001 results.

Employees may contribute a percentage of their compensation to @ savings plan.
A postion of employee contributions is matched by the Corporation and invested
based upon the investment direction chosen by the employes. The Corporation con-
tibuted $2,761,52 813 and 52,802 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively for
the employee match.

NOTE 7 - Stock Options and Warrants

The Corporation has several incentive programs that are uilized to facilitate the
Corporation’s long-term financial success which are described below. The Corporation
is authorized under provisions of the 1999 Broad-based Employes Stock Option
Plan to grant options to purchase 1,500,000 shares of the Corporation’s comman
stock fo full time amployees and certain part fime employees at a price not less than
the fair market value of the shares on dates the opfions are granted. The 2002
Stock Incentive Plan was established by the Corporation and is available to Officers
and Directors of the Corporation. Concurrent with the establishment of the 2002
Stock Incentive Plan, the remaining options available for grant under the 1993
Stock Incentive Program were rolled over to the 2002 plan. Shares authorized for
grant under the 2002 plan total 3,000,000 plus the shares transferred from the
1993 Stock Incentive Program which total 327,458, Options are no longer avail-
able o gront under the 1993 plan.

The options granted under the 2002 program may be either incentive or non-
qualified options as defined by the Intemal Revenue Code; the difference in the
option plans affects treatment of the aptions for income tax purposes by the individ-
ual employes and the Corporation. The options granted under the 1999 program
are nongquatified options. The options under both plans are exercisable ot any time
after the vesting requirements are met. The options under the 1999 plon are non-
transferable whereas the options under the 2002 plan are transferable pending cer-
ain conditions as defined in the plun documents. Option expiration dates are fen
years from the grant date. Options vest under the 1999 plan at 50% per yeor for
two consecutive years from the date of the grant. Vesting under the 2002 plan
ranges from six months to three years. The options also have accelerated vesting
periods for participant retirement, death, or disability, subject to o holding period of
twelve months for the 1999 program. The holding period for the 2002 plan is three
manths for tstiremant and twelve manths for death or disability.

As of December 31, 2002, there are 172,550 and 3,148,109 remaining
options available to be granted for the 1999 and 2002 Stock Incentive Programs,
respectivaly.

In addition, the 2002 Stock Incentive Program provides for the grant of Stock
Appreciation Rights. Stock Appreciation Rights provide the recipient with the right o
feceive payment in cash or stock equal to uppreciation in value of the optioned stack
from the date of grant in lie of exercise of the stock opfions held. At December 31,
2002, there were no outstanding stock appreciation rights,

In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Corporation also granted stock opfions to put-
chase 400,000, 600,000 and 570,000 shares, respectively, of the Corporation’s
common stock o key executive employees and directors. The options were granted
in accordance with Market Place Rules available under NASDAQ Stock Market regu-
[ations. The options were granted s either incentive options or nonqualified options.
Option expiration dates are ten years from the grant date. The stock options granfed
vest at either 50% per year for two consecutive years, or at 33% par year for three
consecutive years.

The following table summarizes information about the stock-based compensation
plan as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, and changes that occurred during
the year:




2002 2001 2000

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Avg hvg Avg
Shares Exercise  Shores  Exerdse  Shores  Exescise
{000)  Price (000)  Price {000}  Price

Qutstanding
Beginning of yeor 4,230 $1287 3212 S1391 1,324 $20.28
Gronted 1,088 1585 1,352 10.96 2,679 1205
Exercised (611) 1242 (B34 127 -
Forfeited (216) 1783 {300) 1556 (791) 1825
Outstanding
end of year 4491 1340 4230 S1287 3212 513N
Options exercisable
at year end 2479 $13.4 1,690 S14.64 590 51928
Avg Remaining
Contractual Life 8.0 yrs 8.37 yis 8.73yrs
Weighted-Avg fair
Valug of options
Granted during
the year $8.36 $5.73 53.15

The following table summarizes the status of stock options outstanding and exer-

cisable at December 31, 2002:

Stock Options Cutstanding Stock Options Exercisoble
Weighted -
Avg Weighted - Waighted -
Remoining Avg Avg
Ronge of Exercise ~ Shares  Controctuel  Exercise Shores Exercise
Prices Per Share (000)  life (Yrs) Price {000) Price
$8.60 - 98.60 12 8.31 $8.60 12 $8.60
$8.99 - 58.99 594 8.42 8.99 188 8.99
$9.19-511.20 635 8.21 10.18 345 10.01
S11.46 - §11.46 10 8.46 11.46 3 1146
§12.38-512.38 1,189 7.6 12.38 1,190 12.38
§12.82-513.26 563 9.31 1321 131 1313
$13.45- 91651 592 8.70 14.99 17 14 64
S17.06- 51770 474 8.57 17.67 49 17.42

S18.42 - $23.47 410 6.14 20.68 378 20.83
$23.63 - $23.63 12 5.41 23.63 12 23.63

$8.60-523.63 4491 8.00 §13.40 2479 $13.41

Under the provision of FAS 123 the Corporation is required fo estimate on the
date of grant the foir value of each aption using an option-pricing model.
Accordingly, the Black-Scholes aption pricing model is used with the following
weighted-average ossumptions: dividend yield of 1.8% for 2002, 1.8% for 2001
and 4.5% for 2000, expected volatility of 54.98% for 2002, 53.01% for 2001

and 31.1% for 2000, risk free interest rate of 4.74% for 2002, 5.10% for 2001
and 5.87% for 2000, and expected life of eight years. Hod the Corporation adopted
FAS 123, the amount of before-fax compensation expense that would have been
recognized in 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $6,193, 55,795 and 54,347, respedive-
ly. The Corporation’s net income and eamings per share would have besn reduced
fo the pro forma omounts disclosed below:

2002 2001 2000
Netincome (foss) ~ AsReported: & {891) 98,580  §(79,249)
Pro Formo:  (5,426) $94,402  $(82,457)

Basic and diluted sarmings per share
As Reported: & (.01) S 164
Poforma:  § (09)  § 157

In connection with the 1998 acquisition of substantially all of the Commercial
Lines Division of Great American Insurance Companies (GAl), an insurance subsidiary
of the American Finondial Group, Inc. (AFG), the Corporation issued warrants fo AFG
to purchase six million shares of Ohio Casuatty Corporation common stock. The war-
yants provide for the purchase of the Corporation’s commen stock ot $22.505 per
share and expire in November 2003. The warants may be serfled through physical
of net share settlament and thus have been racorded as equity in the financial sfate-
ments at their estimoted foir volue. Estimated foir volue was determined based on a
third party appraisal of the warrants,

NOTE 8 — Reinsurance

A reconciliation of direct to net premiums, on both a written and earned hasis and o
reconciliation of incurred losses is as follows:

Direct  Assumed (eded Net

2002
Premiums written 91,536,098  $16,308 $(103,778) 51,448,628
Premiums earned 1,535,912 14526 (100,062) 1,450,377
Losses incurred 1,081,237 28,329 (206,835) 902,731

2001
Premiums wiitten ~ $1,551,030  $15,139 S (93,984) 1,472,185
Premiums eamed 1,510,859 84 984 (89,664) 1,506,179
Losses incurred 959,334 149800  (107,544) 1,001,590

2000
Premiums written ~ $1,419,054  $208,021  $(121,682)  $1,505,393
Premiums earned 1,341,864 314080  (122,923) 1,533,021
Losses incurred 919,305 235716  (38750) 1114271
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The following components of the reinsurance recoverable assat are:

2002 2001 2000
Reserve for uneamed premiums $43397 $39681 635361
Reserve for losses 331,400 151,111 83,897
Reserve for loss adjustment expenses 23,527 17,626 12,291
Allowance for réinsurance recoverable (530) - -
Reinsurance recoveries on paid losses 22,076 29,270 17,084
Reinsurance recoverable 9419870 5237688 $148,633

NOTE 9 — Other Contingencies and Commitments

Annuities are purchased from other insurers to pay certain claim settlements. These
payments are made directly to the daimants; should such insurers be unable to
meet their obligations under the annuity contrats, the Group would be liable to
claimants for the remaining amount of annuities. The claim reserves are presented
net of the related annuities on the Corporation’s balance sheet. The total amount of
unpaid annuities was $20,438, 521,509 and $22,505 at December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Corporation leases many of its operating and office facilities for various terms
under long-term, non-cancelable operating lease agresments. The leoses expite af
various dates thiough 2007 ond provide for renewal aptions ranging from one fo
five years. The leases provide for increases in future minimum annual rental pay-
ments based on'such measures as defined increases in the Consumer Price Index,
increases in operating expenses, and pre-negotiated rates. Also, the agreements
generally require the Corporation fo pay executory costs (utilities, real estate taxes,
insurance, and repairs). Lease expense and reluted items totaled $5,770, 56,500,
and $5,900 during 2002, 2007 and 2000, respectively.

The following is a schedule by year of future minimum rental payments required
under the opsrating lease agreements:

Year Ending
December 31 Amount
2003 § 5374
2004 3,838
2005 1,120
2006 1,038
2007 74
Total rentol payments 511,444

Total minimum lease payments do not incdlude confingent rentals that may be
paid under certain leases becouse of use in excess of specifisd amounts. Confingent
rental payments ware not significant in 2002, 2001, or 2000.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, Ohio Casualty of New Jersey, Inc. (OCNJ) enterad
into an agreement fo transfer its obligations fo renew private passenger auto busi-

ness in New Jersey to Proformonce Insurance Company (Proformance). The tronsac-
tion effectively exited the Group from the New Jerssy private passenger auto market,
The Group contines to wiite private possenger uto in other markets. Under the
terms of the transaction, the Group member OCNJ agreed fo pay Proformance

$40,600 1o assume its renewal obligations. The omount was taken as a charge in
the fourth quarter of 2001 with payments made over the course of twelve months
beginning in early 2002. The contract stipulates that a premiums-to-surplus ratio of
2.5t0 1 must be maintained on the transferred business during the next three
years. If this criteria s nor met, OCNJ will have a contingent liability of up to
$15,600 to be paid to Proformance to maintain this premiums-to-surplus ratio. As
of December 31, 2002, the Group has evaluated the contingency based upon finan-
cial data provided by Proformance. The Group hos concluded that it is nat probable
the liability will be incurred and, therefore, has not recognized a liahility in the
financial stotements. The Group will continue to monitor the contingency for any
future liability recognition.

In the normal course of business, the Corporation and its subsidiaries are
involved in lawsuits related fo their aperations. In sach of the matters, the
Corporation believes the ultimate resolution of such litigation will not result in any
moterial odverse impact to operations or finandial condition of the Corporation.

NOTE 10 — Losses and Loss Reserves

The following table presents a reconciliation of libilities for losses and loss adjust-
ment expenses:

2002 2001 2000

Balance as of Junuary 1, net

of reinsurance recoverables

of $168,737, 596,188

and 585,126 1,981,985 51,907,331  $1,823,329
Incurred related fo:

Cument year 1,045,361 1,145,545 1,237,319

Prior years 84,451 58,489 56,846

1129812 1,204,034 1,294765

Paid related to:

Current yeor 423,634 520,232 596,114
Prior yaors 608,909 609,148 614,049
Total paid 1,032,543 1,129.380 1,210,163

Balance as of December 31,
net of reinsurance
recoverables of $354,394,
§168,737 und 596,188 $2079.254  $1,981,985  $1,907,331




The 2002, 2001 and 2000 incurred loss and loss adjustment expenses for prior
years changed due fo an increase in severity as losses developed. for the year
2002, this was concentrated in the general lighility and commerciol auto product
fines of the Commercial Lines operating segment end in personal auto product line
of the Personal Lings operating segment. Approximately S62,200 before tox was
recognized in the third quarter of 2002 which relates primarily to increased severity
on construction defect claims. The 2001 change waos concentrated in the workers'
compensation and general liability product lines whereas the 2000 change was con-
centrated primarily in the workers” compensation and general liability product lines.
These developments have heen considered in establishing the December 31, 2002
loss and loss adjustment expense reserves reflected on the balance shest.

The following table presents before-tax catashophe losses incurred and the
respective impact on the statutory loss ratio:

2002 2001 2000
Incurred losses $20,826 §34,577 636,181
Statutory loss rafio effect 1.4% 2.3% 2.4%

[n 2002, 2001 and 2000 there were 25, 19 and 24 catostrophes, respectively.
The largest catostrophe in each vear was $7,500, $17,800 and $7,095 in incurred
losses. Additional catastraphes with over 1,000 in incurred losses numbered six,
four and nine in 2002, 2007 and 2000. The additional catastiophes with over
1,000 in incurred losses in 2007 included $3,000 net of reinsurance losses related
fo the September 11, 2001 terrorist aftacks,

The effect of catostrophes on the Corporation’s results cannot be accurately pre-
dicted. As such, severe weather patterns, acts of war or terrorist activities could have
o material odverse impact on the Corporation’s results.

Inflation has historically affected operating costs, premium revenues and
investment yields as business expanses have increased over time. The long-term
effects of inflation are considered when estimating the ultimate liability for losses
ond loss adjustment expenses. The liability is based on historical loss development
frends which are adjusted for anticipated changes in underwriting stondards,
policy provisions and general economic trends. It is not adjusted o reflect the
effect of discounting.

Reservas for ashestos-related illnesses and toxic waste dleanup claims cannat be
estimated with traditional loss reserving techniques. In establishing liabilities for
claims for asbestos-related illnesses and for toxic waste cleanup claims, manage-
ment considers facts currently known and the current state of the low and coverage
litigation. However, given the expansion of coverage and liability by the courts and
the legislatures in the past and the possibilities of similar interpretations in the
future, there is uncertainty regarding the extent of remediation. Accordingly, addi-

tional liability could develop. Estimated ashestos and environmental reserves are
composed of cose reserves, incurred but not reparted reserves and reserves for loss
adjustment expense. For 2002, 2007 and 2000, respectively, total case, incurred
but not reported and loss adjustment expense reserves were S64,286, 553,497 and
$42,813. Ashestos reserves were 535,870, $31,792 and $15,921 and environ-
mental reserves were 528,416, $21,705 and 526,892 for those respective years.
The increase in 2001 ashestos ressrves related to additional claim development,

NOTE 1 — Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted eamings per share are summarized as follows:

2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss) S (891) 598580 (79,249
Average common shares

outstanding - basic 60,494 40,076 60,075
Basic income (loss)

per average share S (01 S 164§ (13D
Average common shares

autstanding 60,494 60,076 60,075
Hfect of dilutive securities 790 133 -
Average common shares

outstanding - diluted 61,284 60,209 60,075
Diluted income (loss)

per average share S (01) S 144 $ (1.32)

At December 31, 2002, 6,000,000 purchase warrants and 860,860 stack
options were not included in earnings per share calculations for 2002 as they were
anfidilufive. The converfible debt impact of 8,897,504 shares calculated based on
the “if converted” method were also not included in the earnings per share coleulo-
fion for 2002 os they were antidilutive.

NOTE 12 — Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

2002 First  Second Third  Fourth
Premiums and finance
charges earned $361,007 $364,708 $356959 $367,793

Net investment income 50902 50700 51767 53764
Investment gains realized 22,831 9,491 {5,539} 18,409

Net income {loss) 2873 13064 (69.935) 29,107
Basic net income {loss)

per share 0.45 0.2 (1.15) 0.48
Diluted net income {foss)

per share 0.44 0.21 (1.14) 048
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2001 First  Second Third Fourth Commercial Linss Segment 2002 2001 2000
Premiums and finance Net premiums witten § 762,189 S 689,596 S 721,681
charges somed $383,496 $376,574 $374,327 $372,281 % Increase (decrease) 10.5% (4.4)% 0.1%
Net investment income 51280 52120 53,068 55917 Net premiums eomed 725,633 707,635 739,698
Investment gains raalized 12613 42419 71,033 54,875 % Increase {decrease) 2.5% (4.3)% 5.0%
Net income (loss) (4,005 16651 44228 41,79 Underwiiting loss (before tox) (123102)  (107,828)  (215,193)
Basic net income {loss) Loss ratio 60.8% 64.5% 78.6%
per share {0.07) 0.28 0.74 0.70 Loss expense ratio 18.0% 15.3% 13.2%
Difuted net income {loss) Underwiting expense ratio 36.3% 36.4% 38.2%
oer share (0.07) 0.28 0.73 0.69 Combined ratio 115.1% 116.2% 130.0%
NOTET3 — Comprehensive Income Specialty Lines Segment 2002 2001 2000
Other comprehensive income consists of changes in unrealized gains (losses) on Net premiums writen S179879 S 136085 5 107,255
securities and o minimum pension liability and are datailed below: % Inc'reose 30.2% 26.9% 4.6%
Net premiums earned 158,435 130,559 104,384
2002 2001 2000 % Increase 21.4% 25.1% 1.7%
Unrealized gains (losses) Underwriting gain (before tax) ] 9,860 19,841
arising during the period, Loss ratio 39.0% 42.0% 30.0%
net of taxes $3558 S (678)  S152472 Loss expense ratio 11.0% 10.4% 54%
Undenwriting expense ratio 44.1% 38.4% 44.4%
Less: Redlossitiotion Combined rofo 940%  908% 79.8%
adjustment for gains
incuded in net income, Personal Lines Segment 2002 2001 2000
Mm‘:{‘:ﬂ] 's:f;m iy AT 1367 TV s witen § 506559 S 646504 $ 676457
net of foes ' (9,573) % Decrease (21.6)% {4.4)% (11.4)%
Comprehensive incom (oss), Net premiums eamed 566,309 667,985 688,939
net o foes §(28,199)  S(135,545) S 80,550 " Deaeose (152%  (@0% (8%
Underwriting loss (before tox) (62,008) (120,740 (89,268)
NOIE ]4 — Segmeni’ |nf0rmo+ion Loss ratio 70.5% 73.4% 73.1%
The Corporation has determined its reportable segments based upon its method of Loss expense rafio 14.0% 12.1% 10.8%
internal reporting, which was organized by product line. The property and casualty Underwiting expense rafio 29.6% 33.7% 29.6%
segments ore Commercal Lines, Specialty Lines, and Personol Lines. These segments  Combined rafio N4.1% 119.2% 113.5%
generate revenues by selling a wide variety of personal, commercial and surety
insurance products. The Corporation also has an all other segment which derives its Total Property & Casuakty 2002 2001 2000
revenues from investment income and premium financing. Net premiums written §1448,628 1,472,185 1,505,393
Each sagment.of the Corporation is managed separately. The property and casu- % Decrease (1.6)% (2.2)% (5.1)%
alty segments ore mangged by assessing the performance ond profitability of the Net premiums earned 1450377 1,506,179 1,533,021
segments through anclysis of industry financial measurements including statutory % Decrease (37)% (1.8)% (1.4)%
loss and foss adjustment expense ratios, statutory combined ratio, premiums written, Undenwiting loss (before tax) (185109)  (218,688)  (284,620)
premiums eamed and statutory underwriting gain/loss. The following tables present Loss ratio 62.2% 66.5% 72.8%
this information by segment gs it is reported intenally to management. Asset infor- Loss expense ratio 15.7% 13.4% 11.6%
mation by reportdble segment is not reported, since the Corporation does not pro- Underwriting expense ratio 34.9% 35.4% 34.8%
duce such information internally (ombined ratio 112.8% 115.3% 119.2%
Impact of catastrophe losses
on combined ratio 1.4% 2.3% 2.4%



the Group made the strategic decision to discontinue its relationship with Managing
General Agents. The result was a write-down of the agent relationships asset by
$42,170. 1n 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Corporation further wiote down the agent
relationships asset by $69,510, $10,966 and $3,801, respectively, for additional
agency cancellations and for certain agents determined to be impaired bosed on
updoted estimated future undiscounted cash flows that were insufficient fo recover
the carrying amount of the asset for the agent. The remining porfion of the agent
refationships asset will be amortized on a siraight-fine basis over the remoining
useful period of approximately 21 years. Amortization expense for the periods 2003
thiough 2007 is expected 1o approximate $8.0 milfion before tax per year.

Based on historical dota the remaining agents have been profitable. Future can-
cellation of agents included in the agent relationships infangible osset or o diminu-
tion of cerfain former Great American agents’ estimated future revenues or prof-
itability is likely to cause further impairment losses beyand the quarterly omortiza-
tion of the remaining asset value over the remaining useful lives.

NOTE 16 — Statutory Accounting Information

The foliowing information has been prepared on the basis of statutory accounting
principles which differ from generally accepted accounting principles. The principa!
differences relate to deferred acquisition costs, reinsurance, assefs not admitted for
statutory reporting, agent relationships and the treatment of deferred federal
income foxes.

All Other Segment 2002 2001 2000
Revenues §1,161 $8,036 § 4146
Expenses 7,689 14,159 14,364
Net loss 5(6,528) §6,123)  §(10,220)
Recondiliation of Revenues 2002 2001 2000
Net premiums earned for

reportable segments §1,450,377  $1,506,179 91,533,021
Investment income 205,794 211,017 201,812
Realized gain (foss) 53,011 198,298 {5,904)
Misceflaneous income 86 382 444
Total property and casualty

revenues (Statutory bosis) 1709268 1915876 1,729,373
Property and casualty statutary

fo GAAP udjustment {7,637) (21,909) 3150
Total revenues property and

cosuelty (GAAP busis) 1,701,631 1893967 1,732,523
Qther segment revenues 1,161 8,036 4146
Total revenues §1,702,792 51,902,003 51,736,669
Recondiliation of Underwriting Loss
{before tax) 2002 2001 2000
Property and casualty underwriting

loss (before tax)

(Statutory basis) §(185,109)  S(218,688)  $(284,620)
Statutory to GAAP adjustment {62,554) (35,091 (28,175)
Property and casualty underwriting

loss (before tox) (GAAP basis) ~ (247,663)  (253,779)  (312,795)
Net investment income 207,133 212,385 205,062
Realized gain (loss) 45,192 182,940 (2,391)
Other loss {11,368) {15,158) {19,578)
Income (loss) from confinuing

operations before income toxes §  (6,706)  $126,388  §{129,702)

NOTE 15 — Agent Relationships

The agent relationships asset is an identifiable intangible asset acquired in connec-
tion with the 1998 Great American Insurance Company (GAI) commercial fines
acquisition. The Corporation follows the practice of allocating purchase price to
specifically identifiable intongible assets based on their estimated values as deter-
mined by appropriate valuation methods. In the GAI acquisition, the purchase price
was allocoted to agent relationships and deferred policy acquisition costs.
Periodically, agant relationships are evaluated as events or circumsionces indicate o
possible inability to recover their carrying amount. During the first quarter of 2000,

2002 2001 2000

Statutory net income (loss) S 75148 S172513  5(81,223)
Statutory policyholders’

surplus 725,748 767,503 812,133

The Ohic Cosualty Insurance Company {the Company), domiciled in Ohio, pre-
pares its statutory finoncial statements in accordance with the accounting practices
prescribed or permitted by the Ohio Insuronce Department. Prescribed stofutory
accounting practices include a variety of publications of the National Assaciation of
[nsurance Commissioners (NAIC), as well as stote laws, requlations and general
administrative rules. Permitted statutory accounting practices encompass all account-
ing practices not so prescribed.

For stafutory purposes, agent relationships related to the GAI ucquisition were
faken as a direct charge fo surplus,

[n 1998, the NAIC adopted the Codification of Statutory Accounting Principles
guidance, which replaced the former Accounting Practices and Procedures manual as
the NAIC's primary guidance on statutory accounting. The new principles provide
quidance for areas where stotutory accounting had been silent and chonged former
statutory accounting in some oreas. The Group implemented the Codification guid-
ance effective January 1, 2001. The cumulative effect of adopting Codification
reduced statutory policyholders” surplus by $21,694 on January 1, 2001,
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The NAIC hos developed o “Risk-Based Capital” formula for property and cosu-
alty insurers and life insurers. The formula is intended to measure the adequacy
of an insurer’s capital given the asset structure and product mix of the company.
As of December 31, 2002, all insurance companies in the Group exceeded the
necessary capital.

The Corpordtion is dependent on dividend payments from its insurance sub-
sidiaries in order fo mest operating expenses, debt obligations, and to pay divi-
dends. Insurance regulatory authorities impose various restrictions and prior
approval requirements on the payment of dividends by insurance companies and
holding companies. At December 31, 2002, approximately $112,467 of statutory
surplus is not subject to restriction or prior dividend approval requirements.
Additional restiictions may result from the minimum net worth and surplus
requirement in the credit agresment.

The Group paid dividends to policyholders of $5,644 in 2002, compared fo
58,793 and $8,825 in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

NOTE 17 — Debt

During 1997, the Corporation signed a credit facility that made available o $300.0
million revolving line of credit. The line of aredit was used in 1997 to refinance the
outstanding ferm loan balance the Corporation had of that fime. [n 1998, the line
of credit was used for capital infusion into the property and casualty subsidiaries due
to the GAl acquisition. The credit agreement contains financial covenants and provi-
sions customary for such arrangements. Interest on the borrowings under the line of
credit was caloulated at a periodically adjustable rate. The interest rate was deter-
mined on various boses induding prime roves, cerfificates of deposit rates and the
London Interhank Offered Rate. Interest incurred and related fees on borrowings on
the ling of credit were $1,760, $13,549 and $16,075 in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respactively.

In 2002, the Corporation completed an offering of 5.00% convertible notes, in
an aggregote principal amount of $201.3 million, due March 19, 2022 and gener-
ated net proceeds of $194.0 million. The net proceeds of the offering, along with
§10.5 million of cash, were used to pay off the bolance and terminate the out-
standing credit focility. The issuance and related costs are being emortized over the
life of the bonds and are being recorded as related fees. The Corporation uses the
effective interest rate method fo record the interest and related fee amortization.
Interest is payable on March 19 and September 19 of each year, beginning
September 19, 2002. The Corporation made th first scheduled inferest payment of
55.0 million in the third quarter 2002. The notes may be converted info shores of

the Corporation’s common stock under certain conditions, including: if the sule price
of the Corporation’s common stock reachas specific thresholds; if the credit rafing of
the notes is below a specified level or withdiown, or if the nofes have no credit

rating during any period; or if specified corporate transactions have occurred. The
conversion rate is 44.2112 shares per each one thousand dollar principal amount of
notes, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. The convertible debt impact on
earnings per share will be bosed on the “if-converted” method. The impact on dilut-
ed earnings per share is contingent on whether or not certain criterio hove been met
for conversion. As of December 31, 2002, the common share price criterion had not
been met and, therefore, no adjustment to the number of diluted shazes on the
gamings per share calculation was made for the convertible debt. On or after March
23,2005, the Corporation has the opfion o redeem all or a portion of the nates
that have not been previously converted at the following redemption prices
{expressed os o percentage of pringipol amount):

During the twalve Redemption
months commencing Price
March 23, 2005 102%
March 19, 2006 101%
March 19, 2007 unfil maturity of the notes 100%

The holders of the notes have the option to require the Corporation to purchase
all or a porfion of their nates on March 19 of 2007, 2012 and 2017 af 100% of
the principal amount of the notes. In addition, upan a change in control of the
Corporation occurring anytime prior to maturity, holders may require the Corporation
to purchase for cash all or a portion of their notes af 100% of the principal amount
plus accrued interest.

On July 31, 2002, the Corporation entered into o revolving credit agreement.
Under the terms of the credit agreement, the lenders agreed fo make loans to the
Corporation in an aggregate amount up to $80.0 million for general corporate
purposes. Inferest is payable in arrears, and the interest rate on borrowings under
the credit agreement is based on a margin over LIBOR or the LoSalle Bank Prime
Rate, at the option of the Corporation. The Corporation hos capitalized approxi-
mately S400 in fegs related to establishing the fine of credit and amortizes the
fees over the term of the agreement. In addition, the Corporation is obligated fo
pay agency fees of $10 and focility fees of up to $160 ennually. These fees are
expensed when incurred by the Corporation. The agresment requires the
Corporation to meintain minimum net worth of $800.0 million. The credit facility



to $650.0 million thercafter. The credit agreement will expire on March 15,
2005. Additionally, financial covenants and other customary provisions, os
defined in the agreement, exist. The outstanding loan amount of the revolving
line of credit was zero af December 31, 2002.

During 1999, the Corporation signed a $6,500 low inferest logn with the state
of Ohio used in conjunction with the home office purchase. The Ohio Cosualty
Insurance Company granted a morigage on its home office property as security for
the loan. As of December 31, 2002, the loan bears  fixed inferest rate of 2%,
increasing fo the maximum rate of 3% in December 2004. The loan requires
annval principal payments of approximately $630 and expires in November 2009.
The remaining balance at December 31, 2002 was 54,544,

Total interest expense of 59,482, $11,708 and 915,632 was charged fo income
for the periods ending December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respactively.

NOTE 18 — Shareholders Rights Plan

In February 1998, the Board of Directors adopted an amended and restated
Shoreholders Rights Agreement (the Agreement). The Agreement is designed to

defer coercive or unfair takeover facfics and to prevent g person(s) from geining con-

trol of the Cosporation without offering a fair price to all shareholders.

Under the tesms of the Agresment, each outstanding common share is associated
with one half of one common share purchase right, expiring in 2009. Cumently,
each whole right, when exercisable, enfitles the registered holder o purchase one
common share of the Corporation af a purchase price of $125 per share.

The rights become exercisable for o 60 day period commencing eleven business
days after o public announcement that a person or group has acquired shares repre-
senfing 20 percent or more of the outstanding shaves of common stock, without

the prior approval of the board of directors; or eleven business days following
commencement of a fender or exchange of 20 percent or more of such outstanding
shares of common stock.

If after the rights become exercisahls, the Corporation is involved in a merger,
other business consolidation or 50 percent or more of the assefs or eaming power of
the Corporation is sold, the rights will then entitle the rightholders, upon exercise of
the rights, to receive shares of common stock of the acquiring company with o
market value equal to twice the exercise price of each right.

The Corporation can redeem the rights for S0.01 per right at any time prior to
becoming exercisable.

NOTE 19 - California Proposition 103

(alifornia voters passed Proposition 103 in 1998 in an attempt fo legislate premium
rates for that state. The proposition required premium rate rollbacks for 1989
California palicyholders while allowing for a “fair” retur for insurance companies. On
October 25, 2000, the Group announced a settlement agreement for Califormia
Proposition 103 that was approved by the California Insurance Commissioner. Under
the terms of the settlement, the members of the Group agreed to pay 517,500 in
refunded premiums to eligible 1989 California policyholders. Accardingly, in October
2000, the Group reduced its recorded liabifity from S50,486 by 532,986 to
$§17,500. This decrease in the reserve resulted in an increase in operating income
and net income for the third quarter 2000, and had no effect on the statutory com-
bined ratio reported. The Group began to make poyments in the first quarter of 2001,
The Group escheated the remaining payments to the state of California in the fourth
quarter of 2002. Therefore, no remaining liability existed ot December 31, 2002,
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We have audited the accompanying consoli-
dated balance sheets of Ohio Casualty Corporation
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001
and the related consolidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years
then ended. These consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements. An audit also includes assessing

s of independent accountants...

e Board of Directors and Shareholders, Ohio Casualty Corporation

the accounting principles used and significant esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Ohio
Casualty Corporation and subsidiaries at December
31, 2002 and 2001 and the consolidated results of
their operations and their cash flows for the years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

St ¥ MLLP

Ernst & Young LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
February 14, 2003

The Board of Directors and Shareholders, Ohio Casualty Corporation

In our opinion, the accompanying consoli-
dated balance sheet and the related consolidated
statements of income, of shareholders’ equity, of
comprehensive income and of cash flows present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Ohio Casualty Corporation and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 2000 and the results of their opera-
tions and their cash flows for the year then ended,
in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management; our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit of
these statements in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States of

America, which require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of materi-
al misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

" Pieowitidsnsa Goorpine LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Cincinnati, Ohio
February 16, 2001
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To be a top-flight mid-tier P&C insurance group distinguished by:

» Superior speed and flexibility serving our agents and our policyholders

» Distinctive local market knowledge and agent relationships
» Rigorous execution in underwriting, pricing and claims

» A competitive return on equity
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"y w» Innovation

- w» Jeamwork
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, » Stewardship
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